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CORPORATE PROFILE
ANCIIGF

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (stock code : 1115),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 30 June
2011, is a leading manufacturer of the high-end fast-consuming beverage in the Tibet Autonomous Region ("Tibet”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group's principal businesses mainly include two segments, i.e. water and
beer.

The Group's water business segment covers Mainland China and Hong Kong markets. Located at the Nyaingentanglha
Range at an altitude of 5,100 meters, the water source of the "Tibet 5100 Glacial Spring Water” (“5100 Glacial
Water"”) of the Group is a unique glacial spring with rich and balanced mineral content, which has not only been
recognized as a quality mineral water source in China, but was also awarded as the best mineral water at a global bottled
water congress. The Group has developed diversified packages and specifications for the 5100 series, ranging from the
Diamond Series, the Blue Cap Series to the Family Soft Barrelled Water Series equipped with innovatively-designed vacuum
water dispenser. In addition, another natural water branded "Easy Joy ¢ Zhuoma Spring” produced by an associate
jointly established by the Group and China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec”) has also been widely available
in the convenience stores of Sinopec gas stations.

The Group expanded through the acquisition of the beer business in 2013. The ” " produced
and sold by the Group is brewed using high-quality highland barley as raw materials and local pollution-free highland
spring water in Tibet with patented technology. It is also a premium and healthy beverage with Tibet characteristics.

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest specialty products with the best quality
globally. With our origin in Tibet, we reach out to the world and are committed to being a world-class premium beverage
manufacturing enterprise.
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PRODUCT PROFILE
o EmEN

TIBET GLACIER MINERAL WATER CO., LTD.
GE-RIL £V S NG

UNIQUENESS ¢ PURITY
B o AF

PREMIUM GLACIAL
MINERAL WATER
Bk )RRk
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TIBET TIANDI GREEN BEVERAGE
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
AREXtEERmERTRAA

PREMIUM TIBET STRATEGIC COOPERATION
HIGHLAND BARLEY BEER PRODUCT LHASA BEER
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TIBET HIGHLAND NATURAL
WATER LIMITED

AEERXAKERLF

“EASY JOY © ZHUOMA SPRING”
NATURAL DRINKING WATER
(518« 5%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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THE BOARD (THE “BOARD") OF DIRECTORS
(THE "DIRECTORS") OF THE COMPANY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
Mr. LIU Chen
Mr. WONG Hak Kun
(resigned on 24 May 2019)
Ms. HAN Linyou
(resigned on 11 November 2019)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. WEI Zhe Ming
(appointed on 31 December 2019)
Mr. XU Liang
(appointed on 31 December 2019)
Ms. GUO Kun Kun
(appointed on 31 December 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement

(appointed on 31 December 2019)
Mr. TANG Zeping

(appointed on 2 March 2020)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai

(resigned on 29 February 2020)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. LIU Chen

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISORS
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors
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INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT
Kredito PR Consultancy Limited

Suites 2602-03, Tower 1

The Harbourfront, Hunghom, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188

Fax: +852 2248 1199

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1611-12, 16th Floor, One Island South
2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang
Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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ON BEHALF OF THE GROUP, | AM PLEASED TO PRESENT
THE GROUP’'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2019 (THE" REPORTING PERIOD")
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group was RMB721 million,
representing a decrease of 18% compared with RMB881 million of
the same period last year. The loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company was RMB745 million (31 December 2018: profit attributable
to shareholders was RMB318 million). However, excluding the one-time
impairment loss on investment in Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited
("Highland Natural Water”) of RMB873 million and the one-time
impairment loss on financial assets of RMB76 million, profit attributable
to the shareholders of the Company was RMB204 million. Cash
inflows from operating activities was approximately RMB548 million
(31 December 2018: approximately RMB212 million). Despite the
impairment on the investment in Highland Natural Water, the
Group remains confident about the long-term benefits of this
investment both strategically and financially.

China’s gross domestic product rose by 6.1% in 2019
compared to previous year but a continuation of previous
years slowing growth with 2019 seeing the lowest growth
for 29 years. This, combined with the trade war with the
United States of America, continues to affect consumer
sentiment adversely putting pressure on the sale
of premium products like 5100 Glacial Water, the
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Group's flagship product. Hence more aggressive pricing and promotion
discount have been necessary to compete in the market affecting the
Group's profit. It is however expected that despite a challenging economic
environment in the years to come, the sale of bottled water in China will
increase substantially and the Group is well positioned to benefit from such
growth (see further below).

The Group's beer operation remains an important part of the Group's
business. However, in this segment the result was not satisfactory with a
decrease in volume and profit compared to 2018, largely due to the stiff
competition in the Tibet market.

PROSPECT

Under the “Planning of the Development of Natural Water Industry in
Tibet Autonomous Region” (2015-2025), Tibet is and will increasingly so
be a very important source of natural drinking water in China strongly
supported by the Tibetan government. This creates a very strong platform
for the Group, as well as being the leading drinking water group in Tibet.

Apart from having developed the 5100 Glacial Water as China’s leading
domestic premium water brand, the Group is also involved in two major
water plant projects in Tibet, one is Highland Natural Water in which the
Group holds 43.981% equity interests and Sinopec holds 51% equity
interests and the other is Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.
("Shannan Yalaxiangbu”) in which the Group holds 9% equity interests
and PetroChina Company Limited (“Petro China”) holds 51% equity
interests. Both joint ventures sell water brands in the mainstream market
through their gas stations throughout China, altogether covering more
than 50,000 outlets. Both plants are fully operational and expected to
deliver a very significant volume growth in the years ahead. Furthermore,
the water brands of these joint ventures form part of the Groups’ brand
portfolio in a separate arrangement and is an important supplement to the
Group's premium water brand and will enable the Group to compete more
efficiently in the highly competitive water market in China with a portfolio
which includes the fast growing mainstream water segment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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The Group continues to see a significant potential for its beer business in
Tibet and the rest of China and projects are ongoing for strengthening
the Group’s position in these markets including penetrating different price
segments. During 2019, the Group's sale of beer through Sinopec’s and
Petro China’s channels grew 71% with significant potential for further
growth.

During 2019, Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd (“Fudi
Packaging”), in which the Group has acquired a 25% shareholding has
become an important production base for packaging material for beverage
products in Tibet and with its investment in this business the Group has
secured the influence in a critical element of its supply chain.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR")

Abiding by a strict quality control system, we attach great importance
to water resource conservation, environment protection and advocate a
“conservative, environmentally-friendly, natural and healthy” lifestyle. We
provide support to the development of local education services in Tibet
with our “5100 Tibet Education Development Specialty Grant”. Our case
of "industry targeted poverty alleviation” was recorded in a book titled
“Targeted Poverty Alleviation, Chinese Solution” which was considered
and referenced by the Chinese government departments responsible for
lifting poverty, in recognition of our efforts in poverty alleviation. This
marked another encouraging milestone for us after being featured in the
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) “2016 China National
Human Development Report”. We have and will always be committed to
the “AidTibet” programme by means of industry-driving poverty-alleviation
to improve the living standard of the Tibet people and further develop the
economy and culture in the surrounding areas of Tibet.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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CONCLUSION

Despite the result not being satisfactory for the Group in 2019, with both
external and internal challenges there are nevertheless great opportunities
for the Group in the years to come.

The Group is in an excellent position to respond to markets trends in
both the water and beer segment including the demand for high quality
products “from the roof of the world” in the premium segment or good
value products in the mainstream segment with the Group’s products
being characterized by “purity and natural”, attributes highly valued by
consumers. Furthermore the Group's business activities meets another
increasingly important consumer demand by operating under the highest

standards of CSR as described above.

During 2020, the Group will also seek opportunities in strengthening its
organizational set-up and market activities in order to be better equipped
to exploit the future significant growth potential.

However, the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact
on business globally and as of today it is still uncertain when the epidemic
will get under control, where business and social activities will be moving
back to normal. This has affected the Group unfavorably during in 2020
and is likely to continue to have an adverse effect for the time to come
creating significant challenges to the Group in a short to medium term.
However, in the longer-term, the Group remains confident to get back on
a healthy growth track for reasons explained above.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MERE
Year ended 31 December
BEZE+-HA=1t—-HLEE
2019 2018 Change
—E-NF ZE-N\F -]
Revenue (RMB million) WAANREBET) 721 881 | 18%
Operating profit (RMB million) REMBAREEET) 133 342 | 61%
Impairment losses on investment AR REARA
accounted for using the RERBEREKX N/A
equity method (RMB million) (AR®BRET) (873) — TEHA
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners — ARARIHA A& (E1E),/FE N/A
of the Company (RMB million) (AR®BRBET) (745) 318 i A
(Loss)/earnings per share FR(EB) &R
~ Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EAREE(ARES) (29.77) 12.68 N/A7iE A
Sales volume (in tonnes) sHES (1) 109,651 125,379 | 13%
Gross profit margin EME 56% 55% I 1% point
BO%
Average selling price per tonne THEWEER
(RMB'000) (AREFIT) 6.1 6.2 | 2%
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2019 2018
—E-NE —T-N\F
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
(AR®BER) (AR¥BER) -]
Total assets BEREE 4,262 4,912 | 13%
Equity attributable
to owners of the Company RAREEB AERER 2,702 3,459 | 22%
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m MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, we continued our endeavors in the development of the water
industry in Tibet and supplying high-quality products and premium services
to our customers.

In 2019, the Group basically completed its strategic layout of the water
industry in Tibet. Based on this, the following advantages of the Group will
be very beneficial to the long-term development of the Group:

1. Resources advantages - In August 2019, PetroChina acquired 51%
equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu and became the controlling
shareholder of Shannan Yalaxiangbu; the Group acquired 9% of
the equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu in December 2018, and
has been participating in the management of Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Shannan Yalaxiangbu started the production of “Gesang Spring”
products in the second half of 2019, and the products have been
sold in the gas station channels of PetroChina in some provinces in

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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China. The strategic cooperation between the Group and PetroChina
started in the second half of 2019. The two parties have planned
that “Gesang Spring” products would gradually cover all gas station
channels of PetroChina throughout China. In addition, the strategic
cooperation between the Group and Sinopec continued to develop
steadily in 2019. In 2019, Sinopec held 51% and the Group held
43.981% of the equity interests of Highland Natural Water, whose
sales volume increased by 4,862 tonnes or 3% compared with the
previous year. With Shannan Yalaxiangbu and Highland Natural Water
being important production bases for the water industry in Tibet, plus
the Group's “5100 Glacial Water” high-end series products as high-
quality water resources, the Group has an important share in the
water industry in Tibet. Irrespective of the impairment in Highland
Natural Water, the Group remains confident in the strategic and
financial advantage of its investment in this company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

Advantages of sales channels - As mentioned above, Sinopec and
PetroChina have fully participated in the development of the water
industry in Tibet. As of the end of 2019, approximately 30,000
gas stations had been selling packaged water products from Tibet,
which are relevant to the Group. With the “Gesang Spring” products
covering gas station channels of PetroChina throughout China in
2020, there will be approximately 50,000 gas stations in China
selling packaged water products from Tibet which are relevant to the
Group. This is expected to result in business growth and considerable
profit for the Group. Starting from 2018, beer products of the Group
also have been sold in the gas station channels of PetroChina and
Sinopec. In 2019, the revenue of beer products of the Group from
PetroChina and Sinopec’s gas station channels increased by RMB12
million or 71% compared with the previous year, with significant
potential for further growth.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Logistics network advantages and new retail sales model - In 2019,

the Group has been constructing and laying out a new customer
service network by fully utilizing and integrating the Group’s service
system in the petrol station channels of Sinopec and PetroChina,
and combining the Group’s online sales and logistics cooperation
with JD.com and Alibaba, to vigorously develop new retail service
model for end consumers. Such new model is expected to bring new
additional growth in revenue to the Group.

Raw material production and supply advantages - Beginning from
the second quarter of 2019, Fudi Packaging, in which the Group
holds 25% equity interests, began production and sales. This
company is one of the important packaging material production
bases in the water industry in Tibet, with a planned production
capacity of supplying packaging material for volume up to 2 million
tonnes of water products per year. Through the operation of this
packaging material production base, the Group can realize large-
scale production management such as centralized procurement of
raw materials and intra-Tibet transportation, which brings significant
cost advantages, and the Company will benefit from its income as a
shareholder of Fudi Packaging. In 2019, the revenue and net profit of
Fudi Packaging were RMB167 million and RMB5 million, respectively.
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5. “5100 Glacial Water” and high-quality beer remain important parts
of the Group's business — Retail distributors and institutional clients

remained the major customer base of our water business. As at 31
December 2019, our water products have been sold throughout
Mainland China and Hong Kong. In Mainland China, we have
built a relationship with well-known domestic cinemas, high-end
international and domestic hotels chain, e-commerce platforms
represented by Jingdong and Tmall, airlines, large enterprise
customers and home users; in Hong Kong, our products have covered
major retailers and are widely distributed in high-end hotels, tourist
and entertainment venues, as well as in Hong Kong International
Airport.
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Our beer products were sold in Tibet mainly through supermarkets,
convenience stores, restaurants and entertainment outlets. In 2019, the
proportions of revenue of our beer products within and outside Tibet in
the total revenue of our beer products were 90% and 10%, respectively.

In 2019, the revenue of the Group decreased by RMB160 million or 18%,
compared with the previous year. The sales of water products of the Group
in key target channels such as cinema lines, home users (barreled 12L) and
e-commerce platforms maintained a steady growth. However, the sales was
more severely affected by the decline in average selling prices of products
due to change in product mix and high promotion discount in traditional
retail channels such as supermarkets, convenience stores, restaurants and
entertainment venues. Consequently, the Group’s revenue from sales of
water products decreased by RMB76 million or 18%. Furthermore, since
the second quarter of 2019, the business of producing preforms and bottle
caps in and selling them to Highland Natural Water has been transferred
from a PRC subsidiary of the Company to the Group’s associate, Fudi
Packaging, and hence the Group’s revenue from sales of raw materials
declined by RMB54 million or 52% accordingly (in the future, it is expected
that the Group's profit from the investment and partnership with Fudi
Packaging will show a healthy growth).

The above-mentioned decrease in the revenue from both sales of water
products and sales of raw materials mainly resulted in the declined
revenue by RMB130 million or 24% in the water business of the Group.
The beer business of the Group outside Tibet, especially gas station
channels, maintained a steady growth. However, as the sales was more
severely affected by the great market competition in Tibet, the sales of
beer products in Tibet declined, and the corresponding revenue of the
beer business also declined by approximately RMB30 million or 9%. Net
profit of the Group decreased by RMB1,063 million, compared with the
previous year. Please refer to the analysis in “Loss/Profit for the Year” in
the following section headed “Financial Review"” for the main reason.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2019, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review” section
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB721 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB160 million or 18% in
comparison with 2018.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB411
million, representing a decrease of 24% in comparison with 2018. Among
the water products, the revenue of our "5100 Glacial Water” products
and “Gesang Spring” products decreased by 20% and 7%, respectively,
in comparison with 2018. The revenue generated from our beer business
segment was approximately RMB310 million, representing a decrease of
9% in comparison with 2018.
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SALES VOLUME

In 2019, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review” section
above, the total sales volume of the Group's products amounted to
109,651 tonnes (2018: 125,379 tonnes) which consisted of 65,442 tonnes
(2018: 73,412 tonnes) of our water products and 44,209 tonnes (2018:
51,967 tonnes) of our beer products. The overall sales volume of our water
products decreased by 11% in comparison with that of 2018. The sales
volume of our “5100 Glacial Water” and our “Gesang Spring” products
decreased by 12% and 7%, respectively, in comparison with 2018. The
sales volume of our beer products decreased by 15% in comparison with
that of 2018.

AVERAGE SELLING PRICE

In 2019, the average selling price of our water products was RMB5,397 per
tonne, which decreased by 8% compared with the same period of last year
(2018: RMB5,852 per tonne), partly due to the change in our customers
mix, and partly due to the decline in average selling price of water
products of the Group in traditional retail channels such as supermarkets,
convenience stores, restaurants and entertainment venues due to
promotion discount. In 2019, the average selling price of our beer products
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was RMB7,024 per tonne which increased by 7% compared with the same
period of last year (2018: RMB6,565 per tonne), mainly due to the increase
in the share of revenue of draft beer products, of which the average selling
price was higher.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

In 2019, the gross profit margin of the Group maintained a satisfactory
level as in 2018. The overall gross profit margin of the Group was 56%,
which increased by 1 percentage point when compared to 2018. The gross
profit margin of the water business segment was 63%), which increased by
5 percentage points when compared to 2018, mainly due to the decrease
in the share of revenue of the sales of raw materials and consumables,
of which the gross profit margin was lower. Mainly due to the increase
in the average unit cost arising from the increase in the purchase cost of
packaging raw materials and the decrease of production volume, the gross

profit margin of the beer business segment decreased by 3 percentage
points to 46% in 2019.

SUPER LEAGUE
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2019, the selling and distribution costs decreased by approximately
3% to RMB113 million from RMB116 million in 2018, mainly due to the
decrease in transportation costs. The administrative expenses increased by
2% from RMB90 million in 2018 to RMB92 million in 2019, mainly due to
the increase in traveling expenses when comparing with 2018.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Net impairment losses on financial assets mainly included impairment
loss on trade receivables and impairment loss on other financial assets at
amortised cost. Impairment loss on trade receivables increased from RMB2
million in 2018 to RMB78 million in 2019, mainly because there were
difficulties in the operation of certain customers of the Group in 2019,
and the Group classified them as high credit risk customers and made
impairment loss accordingly. Impairment loss on other financial assets at
amortised cost increased from nil in 2018 to RMB5 million in 2019.
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OTHER NET GAINS

Other net gains decreased from RMB69 million in 2018 to RMB17 million
in 2019, which was attributable to (i) the decrease in gain on disposal
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL") by RMB8
million; (ii) the decrease in gain on fair value changes on FVPL by RMBS8
million; (iii) the decrease of RMB14 million in government grants; (iv) the
loss on FVPL of RMB4 million was recognised due to the expiry of the
options formed during previous acquisition; and (v) impairment loss of
inventory, amounting to RMB18 million, for a specific customer who is in
financial difficulties.
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SHARE OF NET PROFIT OF INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EEEAEEEARNRENEFEE
THE EQUITY METHOD

The share of net profit of investments accounted for using the equity — E(EEREDEZAENREFBIHELIES
method was mainly the share of net profit of Highland Natural Water — E{iERERAK(GREIERRRE AT HIL)EH
whose ultimate controlling shareholder is Sinopec. In 2019, the Group's  FEFHE - E-_T—NF AEEHSREX
43.981% equity interests in Highland Natural Water generated share of  #A7/K43.981% MR EL T AR 1,6008
Highland Natural Water's net profit of RMB16 million, representing a  JTHIEEERRAKFEFE - — )\
decrease of 24% in comparison with 2018, mainly due to the decreased — FR124% * TBRASRAARKOFER
profit of Highland Natural Water. Do

The sales volume of Highland Natural Water was 194,071 tonnes, BRAAKNEER194,071H BT
representing an increase of 3% compared with 2018; revenue was RMB452 —NFLEAT3I%: WKABARKASE
million, decreased by 2% in comparison with the same period of last year. T BREFREEADT 2% ©
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The impairment loss on investment accounted for using the equity
method related to the Group's investment in Highland Natural Water.
The impairment loss is based on the results of the impairment test in
accordance with IAS36. The management of the Group has currently
reviewed the key parameters relevant to the impairment test of the
investment and will make amendments to those parameters of Highland
Natural Water if necessary, in order to reflect the best estimation for the
development of the market and Highland Natural Water in the future.
Recently, the management has noticed that the economic growth of the
world and the PRC slowed down and the competition in the overall fast
consumer goods industry was intensifying. As a result, compared with the
operation forecast made at the time when the Group acquired Highland
Natural Water, the expected growth trend of Highland Natural Water
showed fluctuations in varying degrees. Besides, the recent outbreak of the
COVID-19 in China had a significant adverse impact on the production and
sales of Highland Natural Water from the end of January 2020 to February
2020. Given the unclear development in the future and the existence of
various uncertainties, the management of the Group made amendments
to the key parameters in the impairment analysis of the investment in a
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prudent manner in accordance with IAS36, hence an impairment loss on  HULEAS T HZRENFERKARKS.73

the investment of RMB873 million was recognised accordingly. It is a one- {8 %ZBEA— XEFELBEE  YAE
off non-cash item and has no impact on the Group's daily operation and ~ EHBEFELRELREREFE -

cash flow.

FINANCE NET INCOME Bt Wz F R

In 2019, the Group incurred finance costs of RMB54 million and gained E-ZT-NF REETHTARES,400
finance income of RMB64 million. Finance costs increased by RMB12 million ~ ExHBERANES T AR 6,4008 L8
compared with 2018 mainly due to (i) the increase of RMB16 million in  #Uia o B —ZT— \FAHL - IS E ML
interest costs on borrowings from banks; (i) the increase of RMB10 million TAR®120087 - TEZ2HA()RITER
in interest costs on borrowings from third parties, which were offset by (i) ~ HFIBERENT AR 1,6008 7T : (i) F
the decrease of RMB13 million in interest costs on the convertible bonds ~ = FEFHFEEFENT ARE1,0008
issued by the Company; and (iv) the decrease of RMB1 million in exchange 7T & B (jii) K A 7] B 17 H) A H2 B A& 5 60 1| B,
losses. Finance income increased by RMB32 million mainly due to the ERERDT ARE1,3008 7T F(iv)[ERE
increase of RMB35 million in interest income from interest-bearing loans to &84 7 AR 100 B LK o B U518
third parties and related parties, which was offset by the decrease of RMB3 17T AR¥3200870  FEMAETFE=
million in bank interest income. FAMBEAEEREBNFERAENT AR
35008 BRTHMEKARIHAR
#3008 TIEE -

ZIN9LeaZ enenny

e TR . e o )
P B N B RS
e gl PEESEE  SOREE - See BEARES - BN
T m e . . S
Ll B T
eyt s N SN b v i

evjes b ) s 4 " 0 = e

BRHKERARAF | F& 2019



R N g

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2019, the income tax expense was RMB29 million which has decreased
by RMB6 million when compared to RMB35 million in 2018. It was mainly
due to (i) the decrease in profit before income tax; and (ii) distribution of
profit from a PRC subsidiary of the Group, resulting in an increase of RMB9
million in income tax expenses.

LOSS/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The profit for the year decreased by RMB1,063 million from RMB318
million for 2018 to net loss of RMB745 million for 2019, mainly due to (i)
the decrease in gross profit of the Group by RMB76 million; (ii) the increase
in net impairment losses on financial assets by RMB81 million; and (iii)
the decrease in other net gains of RMB52 million; and (iv) the recognition
of impairment loss on investment accounted for using the equity method
of RMB873 million, which were offset by (v) the increase in finance net
income by RMB20 million. However, excluding one-off impairment loss on
investment accounted for using the equity method of RMB873 million and
one-off impairment losses on financial assets of RMB76 million, the actual
profit for the year was RMB204 million.
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LOSS/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by RMB1,063
million from RMB318 million for 2018 to net loss of RMB745 million for
2019, which was in line with the decrease in profit for the year during the
relevant reporting period.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019, investment properties of the Group amounted
to RMB5 million compared to nil as at 31 December 2018. As mentioned
before, starting from the second quarter of 2019, the production and
sales of the Group's preforms and bottle caps were transferred from
the Company’s PRC subsidiary to the Group's associate, Fudi Packaging,
and the Company’s subsidiaries leased their preforms and bottle caps
manufacturing equipment and building to Fudi Packaging. From 1 April
2019, the Group transferred the relevant building with a net value of
RMB5 million to investment properties based on cost method.

In 2019, the Group recognised the impairment loss on investment in
Highland Natural Water of RMB873 million, resulting in a corresponding
reduction in the carrying amount of investments accounted for using the
equity method of the Group. Please refer to the analysis in “Impairment
loss on investment accounted for using the equity method” in this section.

As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets of the Group amounted to
RMB10 million, compared to RMB3 million as at 31 December 2018. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in temporary differences caused
by impairment of trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost.

As at 31 December 2019, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB259 million compared to RMB290 million as at 31 December 2018.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the increase of RMB45 million in
trade receivables from certain institutional clients and distributors, who
continuously kept long-term business relationship with the Group, on the
one hand, and the addition of provision for impairment of trade receivables
of RMB76 million on the other hand.
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The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors through
meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention to public
information about our major debtors to understand the status of their
operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which the
Group can improve its services. In 2019, through public information and
regular communication between the Group and our major debtors, the
Group was informed of the operating difficulties of certain customers. The
Group classified them as high credit risk customers resulting in provision
for impairment loss of trade receivables balances of RMB78 million in 2019
(2018: RMB1.80 million).

As at 31 December 2019, prepayments of the Group amounted to RMB122
million, which was RMB180 million as at 31 December 2018. The decrease
was due to the decrease of RMB32 million in prepayment for purchasing
equipment and the decrease of RMB26 million in prepayment for raw
materials and services.

As at 31 December 2019, prepaid enterprise income tax of the Group
amounted to RMB3 million, which was RMB6 million as at 31 December
2018. The decrease was mainly because of the decrease in prepaid
enterprise income tax in the fourth quarter of 2019.
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As at 31 December 2019, net other financial assets at amortised cost of
the Group amounted to RMB832 million, which was RMB641 million as
at 31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2019, other financial assets
at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due from third parties
amounting to RMB613 million (of which (i) an amount due from a third-
party amounting to RMB227 million was secured by the pledge of
11.5% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests and secured by Fudi
Packaging’s machinery; (i) an amount due from a third-party amounting
to approximately RMB343 million was secured by the pledge of 26% of
Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests; and (iii) an amount due from
a third-party amounting to RMB32 million was secured by the pledge
of 2.5% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests), amount due from
associates amounting to RMB190 million, government grants amounting
to RMB24 million, and other receivables amounting to RMB7 million. As
at 31 December 2019, as mentioned before, the Group continued to be
committed to the development of Tibet's water industry and allocated
resources to the strategic layout of Tibet's water industry, and the amount
due from third parties increased by RMB37 million, and the amount
due from associates increased by RMB167 million. In 2019, the Group
recognised an provision for impairment loss for other financial assets at
amortised cost of RMB2 million (2018: nil).

As at 31 December 2019, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB53
million compared to RMB99 million as at 31 December 2018. The decrease
was mainly because the production of preforms and bottle caps has been
transferred from the Company’s PRC subsidiary to the Group's associate,
Fudi Packaging, since the second quarter of 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents of the Group increased
by RMB238 million from RMB277 million as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB515 million as at 31 December 2019, which was mainly
attributable to the cash inflows from operating activities of RMB548
million, and offset by the cash outflows from investing activities of RMB307
million and cash outflows for financing activities of RMB3 million. The
cash outflows from investing activities of RMB307 million in 2019 mainly
included (i) the net cash outflows for funds transfers with third parties
and related parties of RMB243 million; (ii) the net cash outflows from
loans to and repayments received from third parties and related parties
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of RMB58 million; (iii) the payment for investment in associates of RMB5

million; and (iv) the purchases of property, plant and equipment ("PP&E")
of approximately RMB1 million. The cash outflows for financing activities
of RMB3 million in 2019 mainly included (i) net cash outflows from bank
borrowings and interests of RMB16 million; and (ii) payment of principal
and interest relating to convertible bond of RMB283 million, which were
offset by (iii) loans obtained from third parties of RMB296 million.
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As at 31 December 2019, deferred revenue (non-current) of the Group
amounted to RMB19 million, which was RMB21 million as at 31 December
2018. The decrease was due to regular amortisation of asset-related
government grant.

As at 31 December 2019, deferred income tax liabilities of the Group
amounted to RMB10 million, which was RMB15 million as at 31 December
2018. The decrease was due to, on one hand, the reversal of RMB2 million
deferred income tax liabilities arising from calculating revaluation of assets
of a subsidiary, and on the other hand, the transfer of corresponding
accrued income tax of RMB3 million from deferred income tax liabilities to
enterprise income tax payable, which was incurred from the distribution of
profit from a PRC subsidiary to its overseas holding company.

As at 31 December 2019, trade and notes payables of the Group amounted
to RMB324 million, which was RMB79 million as at 31 December 2018. The
increase was mainly due to the fact that for some of the suppliers of the
Group, the procurement was mainly settled in the form of notes payables
in 2019, which increased the turnover days of settlement.

As at 31 December 2019, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB29 million, which were RMB21 million as at 31 December 2018.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in advances received from
customer of the sales of water and beer products of RMB22 million, offset
by the decrease in the sales of water cards amounting to RMB14 million.

As at 31 December 2019, enterprise income tax payable of the Group
amounted to RMB34 million, which was RMB26 million as at 31 December
2018. The increase was mainly due to the increase in enterprise income
tax payable of RMB12 million incurred from distributing profit from a PRC
subsidiary to the overseas holding company, offset by the decrease in
profit before income tax leds to decrease in enterprise income tax payable
of RMB4 million.
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As at 31 December 2019, accruals and other payables of the Group JARES
increased by RMB296 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) the IRER KM ﬁ@ﬂgﬁ i‘HHTAE@EZ 961
increase in shareholder loans payable by the Group of RMB290 million 7@ TERAR()RAAEBHR RERE
due to funds raising from the shareholder(s) of the Group for repaying the ~ E&HARBER —Z—NFNARHMT#
convertible bonds which expired in June 2019, (i) the increase in payables — WfE% @ AEBEEMKRRETLEMT ARE
for the equity investment in associates of RMB7 million; (iii) the increase in  2.90f87T : (i) B EBE & R AR EMFUA
payables for staff welfare of RMB5 million; and (iv) the increase in payables 3117 AR 700& 7T : (iii) & (B T4& F
for value-added tax and other taxes of RMB3 million, which were offset by ~ FIEEZ T AREES00E 7T M (iv) fE T 1
(v) the decrease in accrued operating expenses of RMB9 million. ERREMHIEENT ARS3008T : —
DHE (v) FE 1T & B R sOR > AR #6900 BT

As at 31 December 2019, the bank borrowings of the Group increased RZZE—AF+-_A=+—0 £AEEMNIE
by RMB15 million, which was mainly because the proceeds from bank  fTEZIENT ARKE 150087 TE2H
i
7T

S

borrowings amounting to RMB456 million in 2019 was offset by repayment Z-NEBARITEFRARKLS6E
HEERITERREARK4.41ETHE

of principal of bank borrowings amounting to RMB441 million in 2019,

As at 31 December 2019, the convertible bond - liability component was R -ZT—AFE+-A=+—H AEEHT
nil when compared to RMB458 million as at 31 December 2018. BREZ-BEPIRT  HERZZT-N
FT-A=1T—BRARKAS8ET
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The Group’s convertible bonds with par value of HKD525 million matured
on 24 June 2019. None of the bond holders exercised the conversion
option of the convertible bonds and thus the Group was required to repay
the bond holders in cash upon maturity. By 16 July 2019 (the contractual
repayment deadline), the Group had repaid the balance in full, amounting
to approximately RMB486 million (equivalent to HKD546 million),
representing principal of approximately RMB468 million (equivalent to
HKD525 million) and interest of approximately RMB18 million (equivalent
to HKD21 million).

The source of the fund used for the repayment of convertible bonds was
loans from two entities. One entity is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter
Jian (the substantial shareholder of the Company), and the other entity
is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian's spouse. These loans bore an
annual interest at 7%, are unsecured, and are repayable by June 2020.

In the view of the Directors, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the loans as mentioned above were fully exempted connected
transactions as they were conducted on better commercial terms and were
not secured by the assets of the Group.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of employees of the Group
was 417 compared to 458 as at 31 December 2018. The decrease in the
number of employees was mainly due to the fact that, since the second
quarter of 2019, the production of preforms and bottle caps has been
transferred from the Company’s PRC subsidiary to the Group's associate,
Fudi Packaging, and the corresponding production and management staff
were also transferred to Fudi Packaging. Relevant staff cost of the Group
was RMB83 million per year in 2019 and 2018.

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim to form a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training, the
Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news, etc.

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2019, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties) divided by total
capital. The total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings (including bank borrowings,
convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties). As at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018, the gearing ratios of the Group were
27.14% and 25.09%, respectively.

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In May 2019, Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin Equity Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership) (“Zhuhai Guangyuan”), a subsidiary of the Company,
acquired 20% of the equity interests of Shanghai Maikaite Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai MKT"). Shanghai MKT is a company
specialising in programme development and intelligence property agency.
As at 31 December 2019, total investment in Shanghai MKT is RMB5
million, which is accounted as FVPL by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In May 2019, Center Faithful Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and third parties entered into an agreement to establish Great
Wall 5100 Technology Co., Ltd (“Great Wall 5100"). Great Wall 5100 is
a strategic investment cooperation of the Group with Dr. Peng Telecom
& Media Group Co., Ltd. (“Dr. Peng”), an A-share listed company (stock
code: 600804), and specialises in the distribution of water products.
Based on the articles of association of Great Wall 5100, the Group owns
40% of its equity interests and has right to participate in operational
decision-making process of Great Wall 5100. As such, the Group treats
the investment as an investment accounted for using the equity method.
As at 31 December 2019, total equity contribution to Great Wall 5100 is
RMB20 million, including cash payment of RMB4 million and other payables
amounting to RMB16 million. Great Wall 5100 began its operation in the
second half year of 2019, and made losses amounting to RMB7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019. Through the strategic investment
cooperation with Dr. Peng in Great Wall 5100, the Group aims to promote
the high quality water products to Dr. Peng’s telecom users, in order to
penetrate more office and family customers.
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On 6 September 2019, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Co., Ltd. (“"Tibet
Glacier Mineral Water”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
third parties entered into an agreement to establish a company named
Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 Drinking Water Co., Ltd ("“Mingzhu 5100").
Mingzhu 5100 is a strategic investment cooperation of the Group with
Guangdong Southern Airlines Mingzhu Service Co., Ltd. and specialises in
the distribution of water products. Based on the articles of association of
Mingzhu 5100, the Group owns 34% of its equity interests and has right
to participate in operational decision-making process of Mingzhu 5100.
As such, the Group treats the investment as an investment accounted
for using the equity method. As at 31 December 2019, total equity
contribution to Mingzhu 5100 is RMB1.02 million. Mingzhu 5100 has
not begun its operation in the year ended 31 December 2019. Through
Mingzhu 5100, the Group aims to promote the high quality water products

in Southern Airlines’s channels, including its airlines, hotels, etc.
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In 2019, the Group acquired PP&E of approximately RMB5 million (for
2018: approximately RMB29 million). Regarding the future development
and outlook of the Group, please refer to the section headed “Outlook” in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has committed to purchasing PP&E
of approximately RMB37 million (31 December 2018: RMB73 million),
and equity investment of RMB197 million (31 December 2018: RMB198
million). The funding sources related to these commitments are expected
to be disbursed from the Group’s own capital.

CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2019, (i) a bank loan with the principal amount of
RMB290 million (31 December 2018: RMB290 million) of the Group was
secured by the pledge of 35% of Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development
Co., Ltd.'s ("Tiandi Green") equity interests, (ii) a bank loan with principal
amount of RMB100 million (31 December 2018: nil) of the Group was
secured by the Group's factory plant with net book value of RMB66 million
(31 December 2018: nil) and land use rights with net book value of RMB27
million (31 December 2018: nil), (iii) a bank loan with the principal amount
of RMB100 million (31 December 2018: RMB100 million) of the Group
was secured by the pledge of 15% of Highland Natural Water equity
interests, (iv) a bank loan with the principal amount of RMB66 million (31
December 2018: RMB66 million) of the Group was secured by the Group's
factory plant with net book value of RMB29 million (31 December 2018:
RMB31 million) and land use rights with net book value of RMB1 million
(31 December 2018: RMB1 million); and (v) a bank loan with the principal
amount of RMB60 million (31 December 2018: nil) of the Group was
secured by the pledge of 15% of Highland Natural Water’s equity interests.
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Bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB189 million were guaranteed by
the Company and a subsidiary of the Company. Bank acceptance notes
amounting to RMB71 million were guaranteed by the Company and a third
party company, and were pledged by 7% of Highland Natural Water's
equity interests.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee amounting to RMB200 million
to an associate as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). The guarantee was
provided for bank borrowings obtained by the associate with the remaining
amounts of RMB200 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). The
period of guarantee for RMB100 million is from 5 July 2019 to 4 July 2023
whereas the period of guarantee for the remaining RMB100 million is from
29 November 2019 to 25 November 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2019, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk, because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.
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VALUATION OF PROPERTIES

For the purpose of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 30 June 2011, a valuation was conducted on the
property interests held by the Group. However, those property interests
were still carried at historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any, on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

With reference to the property valuation set out in Note 4 of Appendix II-A
to the Company's prospectus dated 20 June 2011, a revaluation surplus
of approximately RMB3,947,000 was identified in respect of the property
interests of the Group as at 31 March 2011. If the properties of the Group
were accounted for at that valuation, the depreciation charge per annum
would increase by approximately RMB130,000.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2019, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity for the year were approximately 300,000 tonnes and 200,000
tonnes, same as in 2018. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group's
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on reqgulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2019, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group continues its commitment to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.
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The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.

Risks relating to our Business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.
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Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. Details are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEBNRR DT

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 30 June 2011 with net proceeds from the global offering of
approximately HKD1,472 million (including proceeds from the exercise of
over-allotment option and after deducting underwriting commissions and
related expenses). On 10 April 2013, the Company resolved to change the
usage of the net proceeds from the global offering. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2013 for details. The revised
usage of the net proceeds has been allocated in the following manner:

REEZRBRENFTERRFRAR
ARBBOHR-ZE——FRNA=THEHX
FIERLT - RAZREENAEIRFR
M/1472 BB T (BREITEEREBEN
SRERENKEHEASNERER) - 1
“T-ZFMA+TR  ARFREREERR
HRBEEMEFRRFEMRE  FHFL2HAR
AR-E-—=F0ATHZAE - BEEHW
PSR FEREE DT -

As at As at
As at 31 December 31 December
31 December 2019 2019
Revised 2018 Utilized In2019  Utilized net  Unutilized net
usage of  netproceeds  Utilized net proceeds proceeds
netproceeds  RZE-NE proceeds  M=F-hE  RZB-nf
E¥&N t-B=t-B  #Z%-AF +ZB=t-B TZA=t-H
Fi85E EERM EERN EERM RERMN
FERR  FERERE  FERERE FEREEE  FERERE
HKD'Million  HKD'Million - HKD'Million ~ HKD'Million — HKD Million
BEEn BEET EEEn BEER BEEn
Expand our production capacity by constructing ~ BfERFERER
additional facilities and purchasing BERMEREN
additional production equipment BAEES 133 133 - 133 -
Expand our distribution network and RIERKERBER
toward promotional activities SERERLY 206 3 1 34 172
Mergers and acquisitions that complement RiEmzRMRARRN
our existing business APFENE 1,092 1,092 - 1,09 -
Working capital and other general RfEeBEER
corporate purpose Rt —Rr%RE 41 41 - # -
1,472 1,299 1 1,300 172

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



As at 31 December 2019, the Group has utilized net proceeds amounting
to HKD133 million, HKD34 million, HKD 1,092 million and HKD41 million (i)
for expanding our production capacity, (ii) for expanding our distribution
network and toward promotional activities, (iii) for mergers and acquisitions
that complement our existing business, and (iv) as working capital and for
other general corporate purposes, respectively. The remaining net proceeds
were deposited in reputable financial institutions and are intended to be
applied towards expanding distribution network and towards promotional
activities in the coming financial years. The net proceeds were applied and
are to be applied according to the intentions disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 April 2013.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2019 (2018:
nil).

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to make full use of its existing advantages in
resources, marketing channels and logistics network to strengthen and
solidify its strategic position in Tibet's water industry.

The Group will continue investing in significant resources, strengthen its
strategic cooperation with Sinopec and PetroChina, fully utilize the water
resources and production bases advantages of Highland Natural Water and
Shannan Yalaxiangbu and promote additional new strategic cooperation to
make the high-quality water from Tibet available to numerous households.

The Group will continue to maintain and develop the advantages of the
“5100 Glacial Water” as a premium brand, combine with the resources
of the existing key target channels including cinemas, hotels, airlines,
e-commerce, office and family users, with marketing and promotional
campaigns to continuously improve the brand image and influence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group will intensify its cooperation with various key platforms,
including Jingdong and Tmall, in respect of sales and logistics to boost the
development of the Group's products in the e-commerce sales channels.
Coupled with its service system in the nationwide gas stations channels,
the Group will build its service networks which cover more consumers and
retail ends to diversify its sales models and make its products available to
more users.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

At the end of 2019, news about the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) first emerged
in China. The situation at year end was that the number of cases of this
unknown virus which had been reported to the World Health Organisation
was limited. In the first few months of 2020, the virus spread globally. The
Group considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet
date event.
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There were temporary serious adverse effects on the Group's water
business during late January and February 2020, due to the administrative
suspension of public transportation and business activities. However, the
cargo train service and other public transportation were gradually resuming
since March 2020. Therefore, our water business resumes gradually as well.

The Group is currently unable to assess the full impact of COVID-19 on
its future financial position and the result of its operations. However,
depending on future developments, it may have a negative impact on the
Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 54, was appointed as executive Director on
29 May 2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company on 18 August 2017. He is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wang
graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University. He
obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an EMBA
degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUE Zhigiang, aged 55, is an executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 1 March 2011. Mr. Yue has over 30 years of experience
in mechanical engineering and manufacturing plant operation, and is the
chairman of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water.
Mr. Yue studied at Shandong University of Technology (IR T % KX£) (now
combined into Shandong University (LUEAXZ)) in Machinery Production
and obtained a bachelor degree. Mr. Yue was appointed as the director of
Tiandi Green on 25 December 2012.

Mr. LIU Chen, aged 36, is an executive Director and authorised
representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board on 1
March 2011. He is a member of the risk management committee of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu gained experience in the
areas of law and accounting. Mr. Liu graduated from York University,
Canada, with a bachelor of arts degree. Mr. Liu also studied full-time at
McMaster University, Canada, and obtained a master degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Liu also serves as a director of certain subsidiary
companies of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 62, is a non-executive Director and was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. Ms. Jiang is also the legal
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd., and is responsible for the operation, quality control,
equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of
experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University ($7T®8B T X&) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEAZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (%8 T XZ) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (i@ AZ) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. WEI Zhe Ming, aged 37, joined the Group and was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 31 December 2019. He graduated with a
bachelor degree in law at Xin Jiang University (¥T38AZ) in 2005. He
obtained a master degree in business administration at Xinjiang University
of Finance & Economics ((TEEAEAE) in 2013. Mr. Wei is qualified as a
secretary of board of directors since May 2009, a fund practitioner since
October 2018 and an independent director since October 2017 in the PRC.
He has passed the National BAR Examination in 2009 in the PRC.

Mr. Wei was the deputy general manager and the secretary of the board of
directors of Xinjiang Tianshan Wool Textile Co., Ltd.* (31K ILFELH LR KD
BBR AT (now known as De Zhan Da Jian Kang Co., Ltd.* (fERE KRR
MABEMR A (stock code: 000813.52)). Currently, Mr. Wei is the investment
director of Xinjiang Kaidi Investment Co., Ltd.* (¥iEsl@REEREEA
al), a director of each of De Zhan Da Jian Kang Co., Ltd.* (fZE KRR
BEAF]) (stock code: 000813.52), Xinjiang Investment and Construction
Group Co., Ltd.* (MBXHTMHERERSZEERMHERAF), Xinjiang
Zhilian Qushi Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (¥i2 BK B2 EERKA
BR/A@]) and Huarong Trust Co., Ltd* (ERBEIEEEAERETAT) and a
director and the chairman of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* TEERILEXKEELEEBR A, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. XU Liang, aged 44, joined the Group and was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 31 December 2019. He obtained a doctor of
philosophy degree in law at Wuhan University (E/# X&) in 2005, and
obtained the degree of Executive Master of Business Administration from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2015. He is a qualified senior
economist since 2012 and is qualified as a lawyer since 2006 in the PRC.

* for identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu worked as a postdoctoral researcher of Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He also successively served as the deputy general manager of the risk
management headquarters, the deputy general manager of the legal
compliance headquarters (discharging the duties on behalf of the general
manager), the director of the supervisory office, the director of the
supervisory board office, the director of the disciplinary committee office,
the director of the board of directors office, the director of investment
banking internal review committee and the securities affairs representative
of Hong Yuan Securities Co., Ltd.. Mr. Xu is currently the corporate
director, the general manager of the board of directors office and the
general manager of the legal affairs and risk management department of

Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6806, 000166.57).

Ms. GUO Kun Kun, aged 39, joined the Group and was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 31 December 2019. She graduated from
Zhongshan University in 2003 with a bachelor of Arts degree. Ms. Guo is a
qualified practitioner in fund in the PRC.

Ms. Guo has worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers Shenzhen Branch in
relation to taxation for over 10 years. From October 2015 to August
2016, Ms. Guo became the Financial Controller of Tyee Capital Group
(HK) Limited. Ms. Guo joined Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
*TEALEFREESEREERAA)
shareholder of the Company since September 2016 and is currently a
director and vice chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (fEBRILEXREESERARA
al).

Management Co., Ltd. , a substantial
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN, aged 66, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2011.
He is the chairman of the nomination committee and also a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Madsen was appointed as chairman of the Board on 7 July 2015.

Mr. Madsen worked with the Carlsberg A/S Group for over 22 years. He
held the positions as the vice president responsible for overseas investments
and markets, general manager and managing director of Carlsberg Brewery
Hong Kong Ltd and Chief Operating Officer of Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd.
Mr. Madsen was the senior vice president of Carlsberg Breweries A/S with
responsibility for Asia, among other markets. Mr. Madsen was during
his tenure as the said senior president also a non-executive chairman,
non-executive vice chairman or non-executive director in a number of
Carlsberg’s subsidiaries in Asia. Mr. Madsen obtained a master degree
in Law from Copenhagen University, Denmark and later studied Scottish/
English Law at the University of Edinburgh, Scotland.

Mr. Madsen currently also serves as an independent non-executive director
of D&0O Green Technologies Berhad (stock code: 7204) and Mega First
Corporation Berhad (stock code: 3069), both are companies listed on the
Main Board of Bursa Malaysia.

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI, aged 52, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2011. He is the chairman
of the audit committee and also a member of the remuneration committee,
nomination committee and risk management committee of the Company.

Mr. Wei is currently a managing partner of a corporate finance advisory
firm. Mr. Wei served as the chief financial officer from December 2007
to September 2013 of IFM Investments Limited which is a real estate
services company headquartered in Beijing. From 2006 to 2007, Mr. Wei
served as the chief financial officer of a Chinese solar company listed on
Nasdag. From 1999 to 2005, Mr. Wei worked in the internal audit and risk
management functions with the Asia Pacific regional or global coverage
for multinational companies including LG Philips Displays International Ltd.
(2003 to 2005) headquartered in Hong Kong. From 1991 to 1999, Mr.
Wei worked with KPMG LLP and Deloitte Touche LLP in various audit and
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

consulting roles between the United States of America and China. Mr. Wei
graduated from Central Washington University in 1991, where he received
his bachelor’s degree (cum laude) with a double major in accounting and
business administration. He is also a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. WEI currently also holds directorship of the following companies:

° As an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
audit committee of the board of Nexteer Automotive Group Limited
(stock code: 1316), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange;

° As an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
board of Alphamab Oncology (stock code: 9966), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 12 December 2019;
and

e As an independent director of Alpha Peak Leisure Inc., a company
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSX-V: AAP) in Canada.

Mr. WEI's prior directorship include:

° As an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee the and a member of the remuneration committee of the
board of Wisdom Sports Group (stock code: 1661), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange from June 2013 to February 2018; and

e Asan independent director and the chairman of the audit committee
of the board of Hunter Maritime Acquisition Corp., a company which
was listed on NASDAQ (ticker symbol: HUNT) and delisted from
NASDAQ in 2019 from April 2019 to July 2019.
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Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement, aged 64, joined the Group and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 31 December 2019. He is the
chairman of the risk management committee and also a member of the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company.

He obtained a bachelor of arts degree from the University of Huddersfield,
United Kingdom in 1980. Mr. Hung had served Deloitte China for 31
years where he had assumed various leadership roles before he took up
the chairman role of Deloitte China from 2014 to 2016. He retired from
Deloitte China with effect from June 2016. When Mr. Hung was working
with Deloitte China, he had assumed various leadership roles, including
the managing partner of Deloitte Shenzhen office and Guangzhou office.
He was also a member of the China management team of Deloitte China.
Mr. Hung had also assumed the role of the southern audit leader and the
deputy managing partner of the southern region of China (including Hong
Kong, Macau, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Xiamen and Changsha). He was also
a board member of Deloitte Global.

Mr. Hung served as the Guangzhou Institute of Certified Public Accountants
consultant from 2004 to 2014. During the period between 2006 to 2011,
he also served as a member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Luohu District, Shenzhen. After his retirement as the chairman of Deloitte
China, he was appointed as an expert consultant of The Ministry of Finance
in the PRC. Mr. Hung is a life member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Hung has, in the past three years, served or is serving as a director
of each of the following listed companies whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange:

o an independent non-executive director of Gome Finance Technology
Company Limited (formerly known as Sino Credit Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 628) since 31 October 2016;

o an independent non-executive director of Sheng Ye Capital Limited
(stock code: 6069, the listing of the shares of which has been
transferred to the Main Board from the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(GEM stock code: 8469) from 24 October 2019) since 19 June 2017;
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

a non-executive director of High Fashion International Limited (stock
code: 608) since 1 December 2017;

an independent non-executive director of Zhongchang International
Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as Henry Group Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 859) since 12 January 2018;

an independent non-executive director of Aoyuan Healthy Life Group
Company Limited (stock code: 3662) since 22 February 2019;

an independent non-executive director of China East Education
Holdings Limited (stock code: 667) since 12 June 2019;

an independent non-executive director of Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 993) since 13 December 2019;

an independent non-executive director of Skyworth Group Limited
(stock code: 751) since 18 March 2020;

an independent non-executive director of Lerthai Group Limited
(formerly known as LT Commercial Real Estate Limited) (stock code:
112) from 24 February 2017 to 3 March 2017 and a non-executive
director of the said company from 3 March 2017 to 30 June 2017.
He was re-designated as an independent non-executive director of
the said company on 30 June 2017 and subsequently resigned with
effect from 30 September 2018; and
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. an independent non-executive director of SMI Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 198) from 16 January 2017 to 15 March 2017 and re-
designated as a non-executive director of the said company on 15
March 2017. He subsequently resigned with effect from 28 February
2019.

Mr. TANG Zeping, aged 62, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 March 2020. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee and also a member of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company.

He obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from XiZang Agriculture
and Animal Husbandry College* (Fafl 242 Ft) in 1983. He completed the
Advanced Training Course for Modern Entrepreneurs* GERM¥R S HiE
FI3E) at the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (Bl
HeRIERME £ through distance learning in 1992 and the Advanced
Studies Course for New Era Bankers* (“#ERMIRTR" 2 EFEH)
at Tsinghua University in 2017. Mr. Tang was qualified as an assistant
mechanical engineer in the PRC in 1986 and a mechanical engineer in
1988 in Qamdo, Tibet Autonomous Region, the PRC. He was qualified as
a certified assets manager in the PRC in 2010 and an affiliate member of
the Association of International Accountants in 2012. In addition, Mr. Tang
had previously served as an arbitrator at the Lhasa Arbitration Commission*
(WEMRZEE) and was selected by the SME Administration of the
Economic Commission for the Tibet Autonomous Region* (Pl BiaE & &
/N E) in 2008 as an expert for the SME Development Project Expert
Database* (F/NEEBRRBEEFEERE).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang was (i) the chairman of the board of directors of Tibet
Autonomous Region State-owned Asset Management Company* (FajEi 58
BE B EELZE DA, (i) the chairman of the board of supervisors of Tibet
Pearl Star Co., Ltd.* (FEEAKMDERZAF]) (currently known as Meihua
Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (HEEEWRIHEEBRHBERAF)), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600873.SH), from
April 2000 to 2004, (iii) a director of Sichuan Youli Investment Holding
Co., Ltd.* (M| ZFIEEERKRHBERADF) (currently known as Jiangsu
Hagong Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd.* (LM LEEHEARNDERRR)), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000584.57),
from June 2002 to June 2014, (iv) a director of Tibet Urban Development
and Investment Co., Ltd.* (FEMTERKEERNMHBRAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600773.SH), from
July 2009 to July 2012, (v) the vice chairman of the board of supervisors
of Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd.* (FERTHRMHBERAF), from May 2012 to
December 2017, and (vi) a director of Tibet Tourism Co., Ltd.* (FHjEjkiE
BB BRAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600749.5H), from June 2013 to May 2018.

Currently, Mr. Tang is the chairman of the supervisory board of Tianfu
Mercantile Exchange Co., Ltd.* (KIS RR ZFBER A A, the chairman of
the board of supervisors of Tibet Treasure of Plateau Yak Dairy Co., Ltd*
(EERZEREFIAERMARAR) and a director of each of Lianzhong
Peer Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (BRETRERERHBERAF) and
Shenzhen Soft Magnetic Technology Co., Ltd.* (FYIT R R ERIMAR A
Al).

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
with each other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERERE

The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and
safequard shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and as described
below, has taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and
accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality
Board and its accountability to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the principles and code provisions as
set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive to maintain the long-
term healthy development of the Company.

According to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. However, Ms. JIANG
Xiaohong (being a non-executive Director) was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 30 May 2019 as she was obliged to be away for
the Group's other matters. Save for the above deviation, the Company
had complied with the code provisions of the CG Code in the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group’s business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of eleven Directors, comprising three
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group's
affairs. The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and

diversity of perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group’s business.

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. LIU Chen

Non-executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Mr. WEI Zhe Ming (appointed on 31 December 2019)
Mr. XU Liang (appointed on 31 December 2019)

Ms. GUO Kun Kun (appointed on 31 December 2019)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI

Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement (appointed on 31 December 2019)

Mr. TANG Zeping (appointed on 2 March 2020)
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides  ARAFEZERUMEEZE S - FTRIFES
the current constituents of each of the committees. EEgNElREELEZ B PMEENE
£iI o
Risk
Audit Remuneration Nomination Management
Committee Committee Committee Committee
EnZEe ¥MzEe REZEE  EWEEZEE
Mr. WANG Dong TREE — Member Member —
(executive Director) (B7EE) = 25
Mr. LIU Chen BREE — — — Member
(executive Director) (B1TEZR) ==
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN Exfess Member Member Chairman —
(independent non-executive Director) ~ CBUIEHTEE) o5 = IE
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI Rk Chairman Member Member Member
(independent non-executive Director) ~ CBUIEHTEE) T = 25 25
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement HEELE Member Member Member Chairman
(independent non-executive Director) ~ CBUIEHITEE) o5 = 25 IR
Mr. TANG Zeping BETLRE Member Chairman Member —
(independent non-executive Director) ~ CBUIEHITEE) o5 ES 25

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange's websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 55 to 65 of this Annual Report.

The Company has eleven Directors, of which four are independent non-
executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee of the Company reviews and assesses Board composition on
behalf of the Board and recommends the appointment of a new Director
when necessary. In suggesting the Board’'s composition, the Nomination
Committee of the Company considers a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Nomination Committee of the Company will also consider factors based
on the Group's business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.
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The profile of our Board members are as follows: KMMESERE[HN
EDg{éesignation Gender
s gl
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Independent Non-executive Directors | & = & =
moraaes 1111
Age Length of Service to the Board
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive of the Company are separate and are assumed by Mr. Jesper
Bjoern Madsen and Mr. Wang Dong, respectively. The Chairman’s primary
responsibilities include deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda,
formulating Board policies, ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the
Company and upholding the Company’s corporate governance standards.
The Chief Executive has delegated authority from the Board and is
responsible for managing the Group’s business, including the implementation
of the strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.
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The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group's annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.

The Board meets regularly to review financial statements, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies. All Directors have access
to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a timely
manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with a
view to ensuring that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions
of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted
in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes,
being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time
upon a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.
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Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safequard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.
The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified knowledge,
expertise and experience. Their views and participation in Board and
committee meetings bring independent judgement and advice on issues
relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and
management process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders
are taken into account. More than one of the independent non-executive
Directors possess the appropriate professional accounting qualifications or
related financial management expertise, which exceeds the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-
executive Directors in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organises and arranges seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist them
in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials, articles and
updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to Directors. An in-
house seminar has been conducted by our investor relations consultant,
Messrs. Kredito PR Consultancy Limited, covering the topic of “Media
Response and Information Disclosure Training”.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training B4
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the year:

Types of training

EHER

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WANG Dong FREE A, B
Mr. YUE Zhigiang ERoRiE A, B
Mr. LIU Chen Ell=Stad A, B
Mr. WONG Hak Kun ITryEL

(resigned on 24 May 2019) (RZE-NFRAZTEBFT) B
Ms. HAN Linyou B+

(resigned on 11 November 2019) (RZE-NF+—A+—BEE) A, B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong EEdT 04 A, B
Mr. WEI Zhe Ming BEALLE

(appointed on 31 December 2019) (RZE-NF+ZA=1T—HEZE) C
Mr. XU Liang /%mf‘ﬁi

(appointed on 31 December 2019) (RZE-NF+=ZA=1T—HEZT) C
Ms. GUO Kun Kun ?BrEl'sftbﬁ:t

(appointed on 31 December 2019) (RZE-NF+ZA=1T—HEZE) C
Independent Non-executive Directors VHHTES
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN BEfEESE A, B
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai THEELE

(resigned on 29 February 2020) (RZZEZZF_AZT+NBEE) A, B
Mr. Kevin Cheng WE RAEAE A, B
Mr. HUNG Kai Hai Clement H“RELE

(appointed on 31 December 2019) (RZE-NF+ZA=1T—HEZ) C
Mr. TANG Zeping e S e

(appointed on 2 March 2020) (RZZE_ZF=-A_ARZME) C

A: attending in-house training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group's news, industry news B:
and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance

and other related topics, etc

C: a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company's C:

external legal advisor
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Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), Nomination
Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and Remuneration Committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) of the Company which were
established with written terms of references in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The adopted terms of references comply with the code provisions as
set out from time to time in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore,
the Board have also set up a Risk Management Committee (the “Risk
Management Committee”) for the main purpose of formulating policies
and making recommendations to improve the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its
terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;
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to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company’s annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All the four Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are

independent non-executive Directors.

The Chairman of the Audit

Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and

experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,

met three times during 2019 and discharged their principal responsibilities

by:

a)

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed;

reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;

reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee

Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;
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b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

Two meetings have been held by the Nomination Committee during 2019
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

c)  ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.

During 2019, the Remuneration Committee has met twice and considered,
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

package of all the Directors (including the nominated candidates) and
senior management.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’'s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings; and

to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal control and risk management systems.

During 2019, the Risk Management Committee has met twice to
consider and review the existing internal control system. Management's

recommendations on financial management and production function were
discussed, considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the

internal control and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective
attendance in Board meetings, general meeting, the Audit Committee
meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration
Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 December 2019 were as follows:

BE_Z-NFT-_A=+—HIFE &
ZENERERESENEZTEES KR
e BERZESZ RAZBESE ¥
MEESENEARERZEEEANLFEER
mr

No. of meetings attended/held

BHE/ BreH%A
Risk
Management
General Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration  Committee
Board Meeting  Committee  Committee  Committee BRER
31 RXAE& EHZEE REZEE  HMZEE ZEE
Executive Directors #i7Es
Mr. WANG Dong IREE 8/9 i - 0 0 -
Mr. YUE Zhigiang Fl i 6/9 01 - - - i
Mr. LIU Chen HESi 99 1 - - - 22
Mr. WONG Hak Kun Indnt(R_F-N%
(resigned on 24 May 2019) RAZTEART) M - - - - -
Ms. HAN Linyou i t(R=E-NE
(resigned on 11 November 2019) t-A+-R&fT) 6/6 i - - - i
Non-executive Directors FuTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZEILT 8/9 01 - - - -
Mr. WEI Zhe Ming REREE(R-E-NE
(appointed on 31 December 2019) TZA=t-HEZfT) - - - - - -
Mr. XU Liang BRAE(RZE-NE
(appointed on 31 December 2019) TZA=1-REZA) - - - - - -
Ms. GUO Kun Kun IRRLL(R-F-NE
(appointed on 31 December 2019) T-A=T-HEZAD) - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BukdnES
Directors
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN VN ik 79 i 33 0N 0N -
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai TEETEM-T-ZE
(resigned on 29 February 2020) ZRAZTAREE) 6/9 i 33 0 0N -
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI Rt 6/9 i 33 0N 0N n
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement ERERER-T-NE
(appointed on 31 December 2019) TZA=1-REZA) - - - - - -
Average attendance rate THHEE 81.7% 75.0% 100% 100% 100% 100%

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors. Mr. Yue Zhigiang and Ms. Jiang Xiaohong were absent
from the general meeting as they were obliged to be away for the Group's
other matters.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organised training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. Our internal control system includes
a well-defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed for the achievement of business objectives, safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring proper maintenance
of books and records for the provision of reliable and timely financial
information for internal use or publication, and ensuring compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has established risk
management procedures to identify and prioritise risks for the business
to be addressed by management. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Board has supervised a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system and is satisfied with the scope of review and the
effectiveness of the system.
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The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group's assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

The Group shall review the effectiveness of the internal control system
at least once every year to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the
system. During the year, the Board worked with the Audit Committee,
the Risk Management Committee, the independent external auditor and
the internal audit staff to review all material internal controls, including
financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
function in respect of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and is satisfied
that they were effective and in compliance with our policies.

During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets reqularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the requirements set out in the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2019. Specific employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information relating to the Group
have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code. No
incident of non-compliance of specific employees has been noted by the
Company.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 103 to 110 of

this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting (2020 AGM") would be
convened in a later time as of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in
Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how the current situation develops
in order to better suggest how to manage the potential health risks of
a physical meeting and also to decide the appropriate time schedule to
convene the 2020 AGM. Once the situation allows, the notice of the 2020
AGM will then be dispatched to all Shareholders not less than twenty
clear business days beforehand. At the 2020 AGM, the Chairman of the
Board will demand for a poll and the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards
the nomination of a person as a Director, please refer to the procedures
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit 1611-12, 16th Floor, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip
Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Group Chairman on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to his advice and services.
He arranges the comprehensive and tailored induction program for new
Directors prior to their appointment and provides timely updates to the
Directors on relevant new legislation or regulatory requirements. Director
training has been organized on a regular basis by the Company Secretary
to assist Directors’ continuous professional development.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the independence
of the external auditor to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process of the financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that the
Company's external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is independent and
recommended to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company's external
auditor at the 2020 AGM. For the year, the fees paid/payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Group are set out below:
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2019 2018
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RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR AREFTT

Audit services EZIR 7,136 6,586
Non-audit services FEFEZ R = —
7,136 6,586
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our executive
Directors, our Chief Financial Officer and the investor relations officers
communicate with research analysts and institutional investors on an on-
going basis and meet with research analysts/investors after our results
announcements, attend major investors’ conferences and participate in
non-deal roadshows to communicate the Company’s financial performance
and business strategy.

During the year, our executive Directors, our Chief Financial Officer and the
investor relations officers have met with a number of research analysts and
investors, attended conferences as well as non-deal roadshows as follows:
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August/September 2019 Attended 3 post results non-deal
roadshows/Investors conference calls
ZE-NEFENNA HEBHEEIRRHERE
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Other period of Attended over 10 analysts or investors
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—T-NFHEMEME HEBBI10GANMRREEGR Mg
/HHBERS
Disclaimer

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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The Directors are delighted to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 119 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 and pages 17 to 53 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Company are set out in the “Management Discussion &
Analysis” section and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 47 to 49 and pages 149 to 167 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in the
“Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 45 to 47 of this
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 114 to 115 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2019.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 252 of this Annual Report.
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 180 to 183 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 206 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019 are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 222 to 227 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 7 September 2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board, at its discretion, to grant options to selected
eligible participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors), the Company's subsidiaries, employees of the Group and other
persons the Board considers have contributed or will contribute to the
Group. In general, the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company, unless
otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules. The maximum number
of shares available in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme reduced to 231,689,300 shares after the Company's
grant of 25,200,000 share options on 16 December 2015. The subscription
price of a share in respect of a particular option shall be not less than the
highest of (a) the official closing price of the shares on the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the
shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal
value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall remain effective within a
period of 10 years from that date.
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The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company to a distributor of the Group on 16
December 2015, representing 0.98% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of this Annual Report. The exercise price
of the options granted is HKD3.00 and the exercise period is ten years from
the date of the offer for the grant. However, as such a distributor had not
achieved the prescribed sale and performance targets within three years
from 1 January 2016, the granted 25,200,000 share options had lapsed on
31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to each
eligible participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant, unless with
the prior approval from the Shareholders and with such participants and
his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted to any Director
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors. Where any option granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such person in the 12
month period, (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue at the date of such grant; and (i) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares, in excess of HKD5 million, such grant
of options shall be subject to prior approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting by way of poll.
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An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for 30 days from the date of grant. Upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of
grant until the expiry of ten years from such date. The subscription price
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, and in any
event shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of ten years
from that date. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted.
No option may be granted more than ten years after the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 7 September 2012). Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from
the date of adoption.

There was no share option granted or outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme during the year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2019, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s place of
incorporation.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to RMB123 million (31 December 2018: RMB85 million). As at
31 December 2019, the share premium of the Company, amounted to
RMB1,225 million (31 December 2018: RMB1,207 million), is distributable
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary
resolution.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. LIU Chen

Mr. WONG Hak Kun (resigned on 24 May 2019)

Ms. HAN Linyou (resigned on 11 November 2019)
Non-executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Mr. WEI Zhe Ming (appointed on 31 December 2019)

Mr. XU Liang (appointed on 31 December 2019)

Ms. GUO Kun Kun (appointed on 31 December 2019)
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai

(resigned on 29 February 2020)
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement

(appointed on 31 December 2019)
Mr. TANG Zeping

(appointed on 2 March 2020)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. WANG Dong, Mr. LIU Chen and Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN
shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election at the 2020 AGM.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. WEI Zhe Ming, Mr. XU Liang, Ms. GUO Kun Kun, Mr. HUNG
Ka Hai Clement and Mr. TANG Zeping shall retire, and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the 2020 AGM.

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2020 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the
2020 AGM.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 55 to 65 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2020 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2019, the following persons had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were

REEBHZRPERIRRNEATRERE

R-E-NFT-A=+—H THALR
BIEEFRBEERIF 336 HRREAALR
AlfF E M B MR m A D Bl (D AR
R ERRZIAR

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

Number of Approximate
Long/short Capacity/Nature shares/  percentage of
Name position of interest underlying shares shareholding
HH He/ KA g/ ERtE R/ HERANEE RESLEILL
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
(Note 1)
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited (F{zE1) & ERBAA 462,400,740 B 18.00%
Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2) corporation
ERRMAL-FEXREESERER e XEEENER 462,400,740 B 18.00%
¥ (ME2)
METRREARRLDE (Note 2) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
corporation
EeRRERRAR(HE2) HE EEENER 462,400,740 BRA%5 18.00%
FREETRRARARBINBEEEAEEE Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
EELZEE (Note 2) corporation
MEEETARARARBNBEEEEEE e SEEENER 462,400,740 B 18.00%
EEZEg(ME2)
HERE£REESEEERAT Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
(Notes 2 & 3) corporation
HRALEEREEGEEERAT 1A RIEFENER 462,400,740 BRi&1n 18.00%
(FE2 &3)
BHELREXEREEEARETAT (Note 4) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
corporation
RELREXREACEERACAR(ME4) R XEEEAER 462,400,740 Bi& 1 18.00%
RELREERHARAT (Note 5) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
corporation
RELTREERNBRAR (MES) e REEERER 462,400,740 Bk 17 18.00%

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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EXEHS

Number of Approximate

Long/short Capacity/Nature shares/  percentage of

Name position of interest underlying shares shareholding

#H HE/ %R 5/ ERME B/ HERANEE RESHEIL

FRESREEREMAT (Note 3,4 &5)  Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
corporation

hRESREFREALA(NET3 48&5) HE REEENES 462,400,740 B {n 18.00%

Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 6) Long position Beneficial owner 437,410,960 shares 17.02%

FEKERBR AR (FE6) e ERBAA 437,410,960 B A% 13 17.02%

Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 7)  Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 shares 17.02%
corporation

BEREBBRRA(HET) HE REEENES 437,410,960 B {n 17.02%

True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 8) Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 shares 17.02%
corporation

True Asset Holdings Limited (F{7£8) e XELENER 437,410,960 Bf% 5 17.02%

Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 shares 17.02%
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 8 & 9) corporation

TREEE(WFE&9) e REEENES 437,410,960 i i 7 17.02%

Notes: BT -

(M

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is 100% held by Khorgos Tianshan No.1 (1)
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership, which is in turn held as to 46.36%
by ¥iE£ B E AR AR, which is in turn 100% held by ¥EBHZHEEAR
ARBABELEELEBEEZESE. Tianshan Industry Investment Limited holds

462,400,740 shares in the Company.

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FA &
REXRIN-—REXREECHREBLER
F100%  ERRMRL-—NEEXREES
EREECEAFTBEMBEFRREAFE
46.36%  HBEBMAREFRATHMBRS

BERRARBFE

FEEEEERZES

# B 100% ° Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited 8 A 7] 462,400,740 AR AR 15

BREKER
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds
100% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company in which
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is interested in. Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned by ¥iB&RIREERE R
f] as to 46.36%. Therefore, B2 AT EBM AT is deemed to be interested in
462,400,740 shares in the Company. ¥E#ZRAREARBNEABEEEEE
EZE® holds 46.36% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited
through T2 EIREBRAE] and Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment
Fund Limited Partnership. Therefore, MB@ER B ARARBNEAEELEEER
Z 8F is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of #7i&
RILEEKREESEERAR AR, which is therefore deemed to be interested in
462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.
MERLUEZLREESEIEARAF isowned by MBS RBIEEARATF as to 30%.

HERBEEREEEAREMAT holds 30% equity interest in FEXRILEER
EEGEWARNT. Therefore, FELRREXIRATEARATEATIs deemed to
be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited. BERREZREEREREELRA is held as to 20.05% by
and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of FRESEEAR S
{2 7], which is therefore deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned
by HEEREEBRMNBER AT as to 33.11%. Therefore, HEBZEREERMNER R
A is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company. R [E&
HEBAREMTRF holds 61.67% equity interest in HERREERMNARQF]. P
RELIHEEFEMAT holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No. 1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership through the control of HEZRE
BERHAR DT Therefore, FRESHKREFRELRA is deemed to be interested
in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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(6)  Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company.

(7)  Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

(8)  True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.

(9)  True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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(6) FEEKERABARAMEREARAAR
F100%  HEREFRAFMTrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 &# A - ARE/KERER
AR HEARRARF 437,410,960 iz n °
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100% B - B R AR ARKERERA
B PTG HE 25 B R A B]437,410,960 B B 17
AR - MEREBRATIHTrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 & # A °
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No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 33 of
the consolidated financial statements on page 232 of this Annual Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
33.73% and 27.71% of the total sales and total purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for
approximately 8.25% and 15.11% of the total sales and total purchases
for the financial year, respectively.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (i) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company's initial public
offering is set out on pages 50 to 51 of this Annual Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date of the issue of this Annual Report (i.e. 23 April 2020).
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMB0.09 million (2018: RMB1.4 million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming 2020 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company. The Company
has not changed its auditor in any of the preceding three years.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 did not
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2020 AGM would be convened in a later time because of the outbreak
of COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how
the current situation develops in order to better suggest how to manage
the potential health risks of a physical meeting and also to decide the
appropriate time schedule to convene the 2020 AGM. Further information
will be advised in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Jesper Bjoern MADSEN
Chairman

31 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

o
pwc

To the shareholders of Tibet Water Resources Ltd.
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 111 to
251, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended,

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended:;

* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYLHMRE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

* Impairment of goodwill and investment in an associate

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill and investment in an associate
Refer to Note 4, Note 10 and Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, goodwill recognised in relation
to the acquisition of Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage
Development Co., Ltd. ("Tiandi Green”), a subsidiary of
the Group, amounted to RMB721 million. No impairment
loss was provided for goodwill of Tiandi Green based on
management’s impairment analysis.

As at 31 December 2019, the investment in an associate
that arose from the acquisition of Tibet Highland Natural
Water Limited (“Highland Natural Water") amounted to
RMB1,365 million (with goodwill relating to this associate
amounting to RMB1,153 million) before any impairment
loss. An impairment loss of RMB873 million was
recognised for the above investment in Highland Natural
Water based on management’s impairment analysis.

We focused on the impairment of these areas due to the
followings:

- the size of the goodwill/investment in an associate
balances;

- the management adopted “value-in-use” of related
cash generating units to determine the recoverable
amount of goodwill/investment in associate. Such
“value-in-use” determination involved significant
judgements made by management about the
future results of the business and the discount
rates applied to future cash flow forecasts. As the
assessment involved consideration of future events
and uncertainty, there was a risk that the judgement
was inappropriate.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We discussed and evaluated the model used by
management in determining the recoverable amount for
the impairment analysis and verified the mathematical
accuracy of the cash flow model used to estimate value-
in-use.

We evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts
for Tiandi Green and Highland Natural Water, including
the reasonableness of the forecasts in the context of
historical results of the businesses and production
capacity, and comparing the parameters used with
independently obtained market data. We also assessed
the appropriateness of the discount rates and long-term
growth rates used and considered that they fell within our
range of independently obtained market data.

We obtained and evaluated management’s sensitivity
analysis to ascertain the impact of reasonably possible
changes and we performed re-calculation independently
for the downside changes in management’s sensitivity
analysis model, focusing on the most sensitive
assumptions, including annual revenue growth rate, long-
term revenue growth rate, gross margin and discount rate.

We satisfied ourselves that management’s impairment
analysis was supported by evidence obtained.
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hon Chong Heng.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GAEEAME -

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—-H
Note 2019 2018
B e —E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Land use rights T b {s F#E 7 28,521 29,245
Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E") #% - = k& ([ -
BERRE]) 8 521,083 578,997
Investment properties RENEME 4,679 —
Intangible assets EREE 9 66,403 88,521
Goodwill BE 10 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using FREDEAENRE 12 698,283 1,574,938
the equity method
Deferred tax assets RIETIBEE 24 9,511 2,838
Prepayments AR RIE 15 6,518 38,613
Financial assets at fair value through NAREESEHEEEH ARLM
other comprehensive income ZEHKENeREE(UAR
("FVOCI”) EETEEHSH AR MLEE
WEMemEE]) 19 231,881 231,881
Financial assets at fair value through NAREBEEFEAEEEHFA
profit or loss (“FVPL") BEMEsREE(UARERE
FTEEHSETABEN
ERMEE]) 18 16,517 11,517
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 2,304,535 3,277,689
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REEERER

As at 31 December

R+t=BA=+-H
Note 2019 2018
B E —E-NE —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables JEWE F 13 258,991 289,885
Prepayments AR RIE 15 115,428 141,552
Prepaid enterprise income tax BRI EmER 2,860 6,358
Other financial assets at amortised cost  ABEBARM AN ENEM S REE 16 831,736 641,117
Inventories & 17 52,716 99,160
Financial assets at fair value through UAREEEBEEEHTA
profit or loss (“FVPL") EannemEE(UARER
STEBESEFABRN
EREE]) 18 180,630 179,278
Cash and cash equivalents RekH2EED 20 515,510 277,152
Total current assets REEEMAE 1,957,871 1,634,502
Total assets WmEE 4,262,406 4,912,191
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of ERREE AR GES
the Company
Share capital AR 21 21,363 21,363
Share premium BinR1E 21 1,225,214 1,206,829
Shares held for share award scheme Al mREEFENRG 22 (173,037) (173,037)
Other reserves Hith 23 147,304 177,924
Retained earnings B 1,481,099 2,226,217
Total equity attributable to owners ~ AAREHAELRZEE
of the Company 2,701,943 3,459,296
Non-controlling interests R 96 40
Total equity FEFEE 2,702,039 3,459,336

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GREERMER

As at 31 December

R+t=BA=+-H
Note 2019 2018
B E —E-NE —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
LIABILITIES =V
Non-current liabilities B =N
Bank borrowings RITIER 29 140,000 240,000
Other payables HAth B3R 28 16,000 —
Deferred revenue EEWA 26 18,517 20,942
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBE G 24 9,695 15,255
Total non-current liabilities FnBEBEER 184,212 276,197
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and notes payables ENE SN ENEIE 27 323,881 78,721
Deferred revenue EIEUA 26 2,373 2,373
Contract liabilities ERAE 25 29,409 21,225
Enterprise income tax payable FERT T EFTIEHE 34,355 25,974
Accruals and other payables TBIRER N EHMENR 28 410,137 129,692
Bank borrowings RITIER 29 576,000 461,000
Convertible bond - liability component A kEH - BEHD 30 — 457,673
Total current liabilities TREBEAHE 1,376,155 1,176,658
Total liabilities =Rt b 1,560,367 1,452,855
Total equity and liabilities BERABHER 4,262,406 4,912,191

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

ARG B E R B R BRI K 7 — 6F 5

the accompanying notes. =
The financial statements on pages 111 to 251 were approved by the Board ExeRN T -_TFE=-A=1+—HB#EHR
of Directors on 31 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf. RE111 5251 E MRBRRITREET -

LIU Chen g2
DIRECTOR £%

WANG Dong £R
DIRECTOR B%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SRBEER

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1+-BLEFE

Note 2019 2018
B 5T —E-hE —Z-N\%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Revenue from contracts with customers BPARWA 6 721,455 880,657
Cost of sales HEKAR 32 (317,140) (400,528)
Gross profit EF 404,315 480,129
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER 32 (112,829) (115,664)
Administrative expenses THEHR 32 (92,465) (89,631)
Net impairment losses on financial assets SREERBERAFE 32 (83,164) (1,795)
Other gains, net Hiors - %8 31 16,811 69,009
Operating profit BEFH 132,668 342,048
Finance income B 63,819 31,855
Finance income/(costs), net BHREA(ER) 38 34 9,561 (10,250)
Impairment losses on investments accounted FREREARNRERERK
for using the equity method 12 (873,151) —
Share of net profit of investments accounted ~ JE{5{E A ABHNIRE
for using the equity method N 12 14,319 20,436
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETISBIAT(E5B), /FE (716,603) 352,234
Income tax expense FriEm &R 35 (28,515) (34,702)
(Loss)/Profit for the year EE(BR) /s (745,118) 317,532
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: Pk (8),/RiE
- Owners of the Company SVINCTE Y =IN (745,118) 317,532
- Non-controlling interests — RS — —
(745,118) 317,532
(Loss)/Earnings per share for (loss)/profit ADREEAES(FR)/
attributable to owners of the Company FBSR(ER) B
~ (Loss)/Earnings per share -5k (E58) BF
(basic and diluted) (EXK#E)
(RMB cents per share) (BRAR%D) 36 (29.77) 12.68

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BAEKER -

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLHFE

Note 2019 2018
E  =®-hAE CF0F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(BE)/FE (745,118) 317,532
Other comprehensive loss: Hitt2EEE
Item that will not be reclassified BT AR ERER HIEE
subsequently to profit or loss B iy IE A
Currency translation differences INEFTEER 23 (12,235) (18,455)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, FEHM2EEE KA

net of tax (12,235) (18,455)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FEALE(FR), Wi

for the year (757,353) 299,077
Attributable to: BER
- Owners of the Company . WNCIE Z=DN (757,353) 299,077
- Non-controlling interests — IR — —
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FEAZE(EE) W&

for the year (757,353) 299,077

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be — Fili4R4 % m UK 3 5K JE L2 BE MY B 55 — BF 63
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER
Attributable to owners of the Company
RAREARE
Shares held
for share
award Non-
Share Share scheme Other  Retained controlling Total
capital premium  ARAEE reserves eamings Total interests equity
Ra  ROEE FHEENRG  EERE  ERME & FEREE  BGAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
Balance at 1 January 2019 H-%-15-A-RhER 21363 1,206,829 (173,037) 1794 226217 3459,2% 40 3459336
Loss for the year EREE - - - - (5118 (45118) - (45119)
Currency tranglation differences ~~ SMEHEZE = - S (12,235) - (12,235) - (12,239)
Total comprehensive loss EEA2EER
for the year = = = (12,235 (745,118) (757,353) = (757,353)
Convertble bond-equity TARES - BaA(NED)
component (Note 23) - 18,385 - (18,385) - - - -
Capital injections from non- FERERTE
controlling interests = = = = = = 56 56
Balance at 31 December 2019 WZZ-AETZAZt-RiEH M363 1524 (7303) 47304 148109 2701983 % 270203
Balance at 31 December 2017 M=F-tEtZRA=t-RHEH
as originally presented BREE3 0363 1206829 (158,868) 191,921 1913143 3,174,388 - 3174388
Change in accounting policy EREGE L) - - - (5,884) 5884 - - -
Restated total equity as HoB-tETZR=1-H
at 31 December 2017 fEnnERLE 21,363 1,206,829 (158,868) 186,037 1919,027 3,174,388 - 3,174,388
Balance at 1 January 2018 H=%-N§-B-RhER 21,363 1,206,829 (158,868) 186,037 1919,027 3,174,388 - 3,174,388
Profitfor the year ERHE - - - - 31753 31752 - 31753
Curengy translation differences ~ SEHEEE - - - (18 455) - (18.455) - (18,455)
Total comprehensive income EEA2ENE
for the year - - - (18,455 317532 299,017 - 299,077
Agpropriations to statutory suplus RV RBLES (WD)
reserve (Note 23) - - - 10,342 (10,34) - - -
Non-controlling interests on WENBLAR LN RER
acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - 40 4
Acquisiion of shares under share ~ BERAZEEBERD
award scheme - - (14,169) - - (14,169) - (14,169)
Balance at 31 December 2018 WZZ-NE+ZRZt-RiEH 2363 10689 (BT M4 1627 34592% 0 34593%

bl e A R B Bh K R LGS Y Y R — F B

conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS | [
BARSHE I

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+-HLEE

Note 2019 2018
L —e-nE  -EAE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFR ARETT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHRER

Cash generated from operations REFHELENR S 38 576,978 247,365
Interest received BEUFIE 492 3,261
Interest paid BERFIE (375) (106)
Income taxes paid BERFTEH (28,869) (38,963)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHELNRERETHE 548,226 211,557
Cash flows from investing activities RETBRER

Purchases of PP&E BEDE  BELR (1,583) (16,015)

Government grants received relating to

BWEEEEES BB HE

fixed assets — 1,641
Purchases of FVOCI BENAABENEAES
FAEMZERENEREE - (173,881)
Purchases of FVPL BEULABEMAELEEY
SFABGNEREE (525,000) (684,319)
Proceeds from disposal of FVPL RENAAEBEFEEEED
ATABRRENEREEMSE 525,157 703,475
Loans granted to third parties EFE=F70E (1,138,642) (709,534)
Repayments received from loans BRE=ZFER
to third parties 1,354,389 336,016
Amounts advanced to third parties BERE=FER (349,699) (408,257)
Payments received from third parties S E=Hz0E 162,481 211,339
Loans granted to related parties &Y RE8s 77 708 (288,200) (22,000)
Repayments received from loans to R C) b o
a related party 14,363 —
Amounts paid to related parties BRI 5 5B (55,623) (170,000)
Amounts received from related parties B Uk BaRs 5 0B — 407,704
Cash acquired from acquisition E-RHNBARESHRE
of a subsidiary — 45,751
Payments for investment in associates RETEEE R RN (5,020) (297,500)
Dividends received from an associate BEENRIEWIE — 32,364
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REFEFMANELRETFE (307,377) (743,216)

BEHKERARAF | FH 2019



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FREDRER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t+-HILEE
Note 2019 2018
ik —E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities METHRER
Proceeds from bank borrowings BITERATEHIEA 456,000 706,000
Repayments of bank borrowings and interests {2 HEITER LT (471,540) (450,108)
Loans from third parties BEE=FEX 38 295,697 —
Payments for shares bought back R 149 B 81 <1 3K — (14,169)
Payments relating to convertible bond B BRRESOR K 38 (282,789) (26,882)
Transaction with non-controlling interests BIERRER IR S = (239,044)
Capital injections from non-controlling interests JEEf&iE s T & 56 40
Net cash flows used in financing activities  BEZFEMANBRESREFE (2,576) (24,163)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRREZEMNEM
cash equivalents (RD)F8 238,273 (555,822)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#R& KIREEEY 277,152 830,773
Exchange gains RNl 85 2,201
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRBEEREEEEY 20 515,510 277,152

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019

iz aReRERES

2 (58 P B = — 6 B9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Group also provides lending services to third parties
in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC with
relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB"), unless
otherwise stated. These financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 31 March 2020.

Key events

The Group’s convertible bonds with par value of HKD525,000,000
were matured on 24 June 2019. None of the bond holders exercised
the conversion option of the convertible bonds and thus the Group
was required to repay the bond holders in cash upon maturity. By 16
July 2019 (the contractual repayment deadline based on the terms
of the bonds), the Group had repaid the bonds in full, amounting
to RMB486,363,000 (equivalent to HKD545,599,000), representing
principal of RMB468,517,000 (equivalent to HKD525,000,000) and
interest of RMB17,846,000 (equivalent to HKD20,599,000).

soppRRy T

—RER
ARFIRZZ—TF+—A/\BRE
RNAVERF S BS MK YA ER
SERDA - FMPEEA MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ©

ARAR—HRERKRIR - XEE
ERENEEEREEKERLEH
Eme AEBTRHPBEEERSHNTR
B % A 7 5 = 7 FR 418 SR 10 A B
FRER o

ARANKRHBEZ——F A=+
RSP L o

SRIERBRTE - BAZERHIRERAN
ARBTAR® D2 -EF8ERN
ZECEE=-A=+-BHAETIEZ
LR BIEK

EESH
7N £ B H {& /4 525,000,000 7 7T &9 7]
BREFR-_F-NAFA=+HA
I BEEARFEATEITRRE
HeEng Bt AREAREH
ETJ//\EEEE El &'f ﬁ?‘fﬁ/\ 75/\_7
—NFEA+ABREBEEHFETAE
ERERFREER)  AEEEEH
%%1 % N R ¥ 486,363,000 T(%
18545,599,000/8 ) ' BlA & ARE
468,517,0007T(% fB525,000,0005%
7o) R FI B AR 17,846,000 L(HE
20,599,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Key events (continued)

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in an
associate - Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the
investment is determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is
assessed to be higher than the fair value less disposal costs. Based on
the results of management’s impairment analysis, an impairment loss
of RMB873,151,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019. See Note 12 for further details.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation of FVPL and FVOCI, which
are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

2.2.1 New standard adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for
the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2019:

o [FRS 16 Leases

* Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation -
Amendments to IFRS 9

e long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures -
Amendments to IAS 28

*  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015 - 2017 Cycle

o Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement — Amendments to
IAS 19

o Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.

The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 is disclosed in Note 2.3 and
the new accounting policy is disclosed in Note 2.28. The other
amendments, annual improvements and interpretations did not have
any impact on the Group's accounting policies and did not require
retrospective adjustments.

2.2.2 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2019 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These
standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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2015-2017 SR ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

2.3 Impact on the financial statements

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases on
the Group's financial statements and the new accounting policy
about leases is disclosed in Note 2.28.

The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
As at 1 January 2019 and through the year ended 31 December 2019,
except for the land lease arrangements with the PRC government,
all the Group’s lease contracts’ remaining lease terms are within
12 months, thus the Group treats the leases as short-term leases
according to the practical expedients permitted by the standard. The
Group elected to recognise the lease payments as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Thus, there is no significant
impact on the Group's financial statements from application of IFRS
16 as at 1 January 2019 and during the year ended 31 December
2019. For treatment on the land lease arrangements with the PRC
government, see Note 2.28 for further details.

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

2.4.1 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.5).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)
2.4.1 Subsidiaries (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.4.2 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee
after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)
2.4.2 Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share of
profit/(loss) of an associate” in the statement of profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

2.5 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related cost are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed
to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

2.7 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company that makes
strategic decisions for the Group.

2.8 Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Group's presentation currency. The functional
currency of the operational entities located in the PRC is RMB, and
the Company's functional currency is Hong Kong dollar ("HKD").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings, payables
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within “finance income, net”.

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Useful lives
Buildings 12 to 40 years
Machinery 5 to15 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Others 10 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.13).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction-in-progress (“CIP") represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the
costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing costs.
No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated above.

2.10 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual values using the straight-line method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Intangible assets

2.11.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the
excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in
net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

2112 Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Intangible assets (continued)

2.11.3 Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

2.12 Land use rights

All land in the PRC is state-owned and no individual land ownership
right exists. The Group acquired the rights to use certain land and the
premiums paid for such rights are recorded as land use rights, Before
1 January 2019, land use rights are stated at cost and amortised over
the use terms of 50 years using the straight-line method. From 1
January 2019, land use rights are recognised as right-of-use assets.
See Note 2.28 for further details.

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows ("CGUs"). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Financial assets

() Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through
other comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

J those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (“OCI"). For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instrustments depends on the
Group's business model for managing assets and the cash flow
characteristics of assets. The Group applies the measurement shown
below to classify its debt instruments.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses), together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

(iv)  Impairment

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance. For the trade receivables arising from loans to third parties
and other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group uses three
categories which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
determined for each of those categories. See Note 3.1 (b) for further
details.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

FEMBHRRME

TEEHEEREE)

2.14 SRMEEE)

(iii) FEE)

BRTA
AEBUAABEYMEREREE
TRENE NRASEEREER
BEREENALEBNGEMBEXE
AEM2EEE - AIE R IERRZIE
RER  T2BALEBENGMERX
Eﬁ‘ﬁzﬁﬁ°ﬂﬂhﬂ EARE
BRI WE R R ZEFR
ERMAERE Mt ABa

%%u&ﬁﬁ@?%aﬁ“ﬁﬁk%
e EE  AOABEEHIIR
E’W%/\%%E’]Eﬁﬂﬂ (B %) (&
) SRURREEFEREZESE
ARfEzmBammERRE - BRE
BROARREBRRER) MEA ML
NEBEEPEBIIR -

(iv) B

AEEEABRG KRS EEIR
LA RS ERFESRNELEE
REEAEANEEERBEELN
EWEZFHOBHEERRE - M
FZHEFREENRKRE HR RS
BEAENEMSHEE  A5E
0 = AR = EE AR R
AEEE=FAENNETIERER-
BRE— S - F2HME3.10) -

2.15 &
FERKARASHEFETHREE
SIER o RATIERMEFE I EEE -
KoK EABRERME  BEE4H
N -EBEMEEERAREBLEERIER
T(EREFEZEN) I# R FE
RAFTEBFHOMTEBRIELLE
HEMNMGTER -

BARKEFRERART | £, 2019




R N g

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets. See Note 2.14 and 3.1-(b) for further information
about Group's accounting for trade receivables and other receivables
and for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Trade and notes payables

Trade and notes payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and notes payable are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and notes payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Borrowings (continued)

Convertible bond (the “Bonds”) issued by the Company that contain
both a liability and equity components are classified separately into
these respective items on initial recognition. The fair value of the
liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market
interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the Bonds. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. The conversion option
is classified as equity since the Group has no contractual obligation
to deliver cash or another financial asset nor to deliver a variable
number of shares to settle the option. It is recognised and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the
entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the
equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences
arising from investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the
Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place that
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference not recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

(b)  Housing funds, mediical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.25 Revenue recognition

(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to the customers, the customers have
full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the products have
been shipped to the specified location; the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers are
made in form of water cards (“Water Cards Sales Arrangement”).
Under the Water Cards Sales Arrangement with the distributors, the
distributors sell the water cards to the end customers and use the
logistics network, which is designed by the Group with the Group's
long-term cooperative logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to
the designated locations at the request of the end customers when
the water cards are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant
logistics expenses are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has
ultimate obligations towards the card holders. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are recognised when the water
cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products are
delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.

(c) Interest income

The Group provides lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related interest
income is recognised in a time proportion basis using effective
interest method.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines and a plant is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. See Note 2.28 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Interest income recorded as finance income

Interest income arising from group entities that are not in the
business of providing lending services to third parties and associates
is presented as finance income. Such interest income is arising
from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired
financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred revenue and are
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership were not transferred to the Group as lessee were classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group. Assets and liabilities arising from a
lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable

* variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

* amounts expected to be payable by the group under residual
value guarantees

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Leases (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

*  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received

* any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’'s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented
within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for
the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of
office furniture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Leases (continued)
As at 1 January 2019 and during the year ended 31 December 2019,
the recognised right-of-use assets relate to land use rights.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on
their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the
accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new
leasing standard.

2.29 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity,
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at
the end of the reporting period.

2.30 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. For equity-settled share-
based payment transactions, the Group measures the goods or
services received, and the corresponding increase in equity, directly,
at the fair value of the goods or services received, unless that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably. If the Group cannot estimate
reliably the fair value of the goods or services received, the Group
shall measure their value, and the corresponding increase in equity,
indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is charged to the statement of profit or loss
when the services are received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.30 Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement
of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (and share premium).

2.31 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

* Dby the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how
these risks could affect the Group's future financial performance.
Current year profit and loss information has been included where
relevant to add further context.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However,
the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from its cash
exchange transactions, which are primarily denominated in HKD.

To mitigate the impact of exchange rate fluctuations, the Group
continually assesses and monitors its exposure to foreign exchange
risk. During the year ended 31 December 2019, management did
not consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in
order to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk, because the
exposure, after netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign
exchange risk, is not significant.

As at 31 December 2019, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB10,857,000
(2018: RMB57,140,000) lower/higher respectively, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange translation of the financial statements for the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose functional currency is
HKD; the post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB2,801,000
(2018: RMB3,065,000) lower/higher.
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)~ Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held
at variable rates. During 2019 and 2018, the Group's borrowings at
variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At 31 December
2019, if interest rates on RMB-denominated floating-rate borrowings
had been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB916,000 (2018:
RMB386,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2019, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to RMB276,000,000 (2018: RMB296,000,000) and borrowings from
third parties amounting to RMB290,309,000 (2018: nil) at fixed
interest rates and these expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of bank
borrowings and borrowings from third parties with fixed interest
rates approximated their fair value due to their short tenures and the
influence of fair value interest rate risk is marginal.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost,
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
those financial assets.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held
in major financial institutions located in the PRC including the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, which management believes are
of high credit quality. There was no recent history of default of cash
and cash equivalents from such financial institutions/authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products and trade receivables arising from loans to third parties. For
the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure the
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance.
And the Group uses two categories which reflect their credit risk, and
how the receivables loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. For customers suffered financial difficulties, the Group
recognised as Category 1, and for the other customers, the Group
recognised as Category 2. For the trade receivables arising from loans
to third parties, the Group uses three categories which reflect their
credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined for each of
those categories.

The summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's expected
credit loss model for loans receivables from third parties is the same
as the expected credit loss model used for other receivables, please
refer to Note3.1 (b)-(ii) for more details.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over a period of 36 months before 31 December 2019 and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified
the GDP and the unemployment rate to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRM T
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HEXEREEE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEERBREEZE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) () JEREZH(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from FHEREF R_ZE—-—NhLF+_-A
third parties as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 was =t+—HRZE-N\FF+ZA=+—
determined as follows: H:  BRE=ZFHEREZIMEX
BEETWOT
Category 2
28
Within More than
1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2019 ZE-AETZA=1-A Category 1 Current  pastdue  pastdue past due Total

i WE  AM-%h BE-ERE AMEERE it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARRTR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR

Expected loss rate REBXE 100% 0.02% 0.08% 4.91% 72.73%
Gross carrying amount FHERR 76,446 160,299 74,109 137 1,661 312,652
Loss allowance BABE 76,446 26 63 7 1,207 77,749
Category 2
Eo

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2018 “E-\ETZA=1-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total

s 08 BH-FR BE-ZRE AMEEmF it
RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate REEXE 100% 0.01% 0.07% 2.40% 55.55%
Gross carrying amount HREERE - 180,205 79,994 7349 2,849 270,397
Loss allowance PR - 18 56 176 1,583 1,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBEBREEE)
3.1 Finandial risk factors (continued) 31 HEREBRRZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) () EREZH(E)
For loan receivables due from a third party amounting to RZZE-NFE+ZA=+—H B8R
RMB24,088,000 (2018: RMB21,321,000), the expected loss rate was EREFNBERUINERGEN
0% (2018: 0%) and the loss allowance was nil (2018: nil) as the loan —BYEERT BRE=FEZE
was secured by a property with value sufficient to cover the loan AR #24,088000 (=T — N\F:
balance as at 31 December 2019. AR®21,321,0007T) © FEEBAE
RB0% (ZZ—\F : 0%) RIBEXER
RE(ZE-N\F:T)o
During the year, there were major customers of the Group suffered FAAEENTIERPEBVEBR
financial difficulties and thus the expected credit loss from the trade Rl BEESRWNEREER
receivables increased significantly. REAEI o
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December reconcile EEEZRR+_A=+—H®HEX
to the opening loss allowances as follows: BERFBABEHRNT
Trade
receivables
2019
EWE 5 R
“E-NEF
RMB’000
ARBTR
Opening loss allowance at 1 January R—R—BHFBELEE 1,833
Increase in loss allowance recognised in FARERERNBRBEEM
profit or loss during the year 77,749
Receivables written off PR A LR [ i B 5 1Al 3 ) R LK R
during the year as uncollectible (1,833)
Closing loss allowance at 31 December R+ A=+—HNFRBAEE 77,749
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days
past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same line
item.

(if)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has other financial assets at
amortised cost of RMB831,736,000 (2018: RMB641,117,000) which
are mainly loans to several independent third parties amounting to
RMB612,710,000 (2018: RMB576,421,000) and a loan to an associate
amounting to RMB189,800,000 (2018: RMB22,877,000), amounting
to RMB602,198,000 was pledged by 40% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's
equity interests and secured by Fudi Packaging’s machinery.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators
are incorporated:

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments more than 180 days past due. Where loans or
receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 H¥EREERE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect

their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of

those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

Group's expected credit loss model is as follows:

3.1 MEERRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(i)  LEBHKIGTENEMEBEE
(%)

AEE LS RYGKIAR B =E%

[ B EL (= P L B DA e 4 fe] e 72 38 =

BRIMBRER -  XBARERME

ERKENHRRBANT :

Basis for recognition of

Category Company definition of category expected credit loss provision
LYl BRNALQTRE BAEHEERAREBNEE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the
original expectations expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime (stage 1).
E% FE R RIS — e KR NREARSREX -  HREHFESRE 12

Underperforming

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TREERE)

Write-off

Receivables for which a significant
increase has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

B [ 78 HA AR Lk 15 B A B B 3 4 0 ) JE MK RROE
WA R,/ HASEFGHIOA  AREEE
[ BEZE N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy

FIE R/ SAEEHAHIOAKEFEAME
ABERFF

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.
FIER,/SA&EHEE 180 - EABEHE
EWE -

ARMEE  RHBRZERBEELR(H

BB E -

Lifetime expected losses (stage 2).

FEHRMBR(F2HEER)

o

Lifetime expected losses (stage 3).

FEHRMBR(FE3MEE)

Asset is written off

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBEBREEE)

3.1 Finandial risk factors (continued) 31 HEREBRRZEE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HEBHEAGTEMAMeHEE

(#)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost, the EUERKATENEMSHEEN
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for HRAN AEEEARNRESREE
expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected BAELEEREBESEGERRA
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for e ErrEBEHEERARE A&
each category of customers. No significant changes to estimation EeZREERNEFPNELBERE -
techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period. RiEHENEERTSRELNERR
As at 31 December 2019, all the other financial assets at amortised RZZE-NF+=ZA=+—H M4E
cost were within their contractual credit period. The loss allowance NERKAENEMEREEYTR
for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December 2019 REEGHNEEHRN - RZZ—NF
was determined as follows: +tZA=+—8 " UEBHEAHED

HteRMEENBRRBEETNT

31 December 2019 —E-NE+ZA=+—H Performing Total
E% st
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETTT

Expected loss rate EEE R XK 0.26%
Gross carrying amount REEAE 833,904 833,904
Loss allowance BREE 2,168 2,168
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBEBREEE)
3.1 Finandial risk factors (continued) 31 HEREBRRZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HEBHEAGTEMAMeHEE
(#)
Other financial assets at amortised cost with a contractual amount HAMBENAERK AT ENEME
of RMB3,247,000 written off during the period are still subject to MEENASLH S ARES 247,000
enforcement activity. The gross carrying amount of other financial TTNZREIAITITE TR  AE A
assets at amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is KAGTENEMEBEENREREL
as follows: BREBBEIOSAEBAENT
31 December
2019
—B-hE
+=BA=+—H
RMB’000
ARETR
Performing fa:S 833,904
Written off gz 3,247
Total gross other financial assets at amortised cost ~ LEBKATENEMEREELTE 837,151
Less: Loss allowance KRR (2,168)
Less: Write-off s (3,247)
Other financial assets at amortised cost PR AT ENEMEREE 831,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i)~ Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or

3

FEMBHRRME

MHEERERZ)

3.1 BBEREZEE)

(b) fEmEEE)

(i)  RIEZEAN 2 M EE R EE%

loss JHEE
During the year, the following losses were recognised in profit or loss FRN RERABRREHACRESR
in relation to impaired financial assets: BEMNNTEXL
2019 2018
—E-NE —B-\fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Impairment losses HERX
movement in loss allowance
for trade receivables JEWE HRBREES 77,749 1,795
Impairment losses on other financial assets Hh& @& EREEX 5,415 —
Net impairment losses on
financial assets CREERERAXFE 83,164 1,795

There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to
credit risk.

Hih¢ MEETERBREREERR
HGE o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group's treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.

(i)~ Financing arrangements
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities:

3

MHEERERZ)

3.1 MEERRERE)

(c) FEttEE
BENORDUERAREECEERTR
MR e REARANEREEREMN
HFAHRBRES  RRTHTREN
BN ARNAKEHBEEHNDE
W AEENEBERBBERTR
WREMREEEMNREESNE
BN o

EEERBESRSREEELE
REBESHRNRE TR

]

() BEZH
AEBBHEATHARROBITER
HE

As at 31 December

W+=B=t+—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —FN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT
Fixed rate: & E il -
— expiring within one year —R—FRNEm 40,000 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HERBRERE)
3.1 Finandial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEERBREEZE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) WmEMEEE)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (i) ZHEEZEHA

TRAMREERZADEHE R
HIR 210 P AR B 2 B B AR Rl A S [
WEBAE RTHRBENEELOR
BRNENKTRASTE -

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than More than
1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years
—F0R  —EWFE WEZF ZFHUE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR%®TR AR®BTR AR®TR
Group PN |
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-h&
+=B=+-8
Bank borrowings RITIER 551,740 190,920 — —
Trade and notes payables ERE SR RENRE
(Note 27) (M5E27) 323,881 = = =
Other financial liabilities Husmasd 392,443 — — 16,000
At 31 December 2018 R=-B-N\%§
+ZB=+—8H
Bank borrowings RITIER 473,300 108,810 158,820 —
Convertible bond AR E S 473,345 — — —
Trade and notes payables ERE SR LENRE
(Note 27) (PEE27) 78,721 — — —
Other financial liabilities Hiemad 111,198 — — —
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (continued)

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to
RMB200,000,000 to an associate company for obtaining bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: nil). Given
the financial position and earning ability of the associate company,
management believe that the risk of default for the associate
company for the loan repayment is very low and thus management
believes that there is no material liquidity risk arising from the
financial guarantee provided by the Group.

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as

shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 UBEREEE)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 32 EXREREEE)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: RZE-NERZZE-NF+HA

=t—BMEEABLRMT

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—-8
2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Bank borrowings (Note 29) $RITEE (M 29) 716,000 701,000
Borrowings from third parties (Note 28) E=HERIE28) 290,309 —
Convertible bond-liability component Ak ER — B EHH (F9E30)

(Note 30) = 457,673
Total equity Tk 2,702,039 3,459,336
Total capital BB 3,708,348 4,618,009
Gearing ratio BEEABILE 27.14% 25.09%
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 DAEEMG
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in AEMMEERAABERTKRE
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are NERKTENERIANAABE
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements. 5 P VE RO 1 B S (5T o
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (a) AREBEER
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in RELEEAAEBEMBHARED
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments AEREERE AEERESHER
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An REMEERIADARZE - BER
explanation of each level follows underneath the table. ZBRIIRMT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBEBREEE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 33 DAEEMEE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREBEERE)
The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured TRENFAEER_Z-NAEFR=-ZT
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2019 and 2018 on a —N\F+ZA=T—BREFTEEN
recurring basis: RABEFEREANEHEE
Level 3
E3E
Note RMB’000
Recurring fair value measurements REMAABESE Bk AR® TR
At 31 December 2019 R-B-hnE+=-A=+—H
Financial Assets CREE
FVPL WAREEFEBEESHA
BaremEE
— Investments in structured financial products —-RENGEEUEYER 18 180,630
— Investment in GT Express (Beijing) Information - REREBREBULR)ER
Technology Co., Ltd. (“GT Express"”) BRMAERAR([EBERF]) 18 11,517
— Investment in Shanghai MKT —RER EBEER 18 5,000
197,147
FvoC| WAREEEBEEEEHA
Hit 2 AN RN EREE
— Investment in China Railway Express —RENRFERERNARLDA
Co., Ltd. ("CRE") ([hERE]) 19 58,000
— Investments in Shannan Yalaxiangbu —RERLERNER 19 173,881
231,881
Total financial assets MEMEE 429,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BXEREREE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AREEMFE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) RAREBEERE)
Level 3
%3
Note RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements rEHAAEENE = AREFIT
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NFE+ZA=+—H
Financial Assets SRMEE
FVPL UAREBEFEAEEEHTA
BEMEemEE
— Investments in structured financial products —REREREEMER 18 174,959
-~ Investment in GT Express —RENERER 18 11,517
— Embedded derivative asset —RARITEEE 18 4,319
190,795
FVOCI AR EBEFEBEEZETA
HprmiEnemEeE
— Investment in CRE —RERRERE 19 58,000
~ Investments in Shannan Yalaxiangbu —HERLBBRER 19 173,881
231,881
Total financial assets HMEMEE 422,676
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for

the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

3

FEMBHRRME

B RBERE)

3.3 AAEEMSEE)

(b) BREAHTEFBAHES R
REEHE(EIE)

TRENBEZF-NAEZF-N\F

TZAZT-HLEEEFIBTAN

|5
Z

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-—-H

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBTT

Opening balance FERE 422,676 241,181

Additions NE 525,000 858,200

Disposals HE (525,157) (703,475)

Expiration of embedded derivative asset BAXITERETH (4,319) —

Net gains recognised upon disposal HER RN FRE

(Note18 & 31) (PizE18 % 31) 10,198 17,591
Fair value changes recorded in SARMMENARBEE

other gains (Note18 & 31) (B¥sE18 & 31) 630 9,179

Closing balance FEREH 429,028 422,676

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer and the
finance team member that is responsible for the valuation.

(c) FEEZEHEERF
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation and amortisation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated
useful lives are stated in Note 2.9 and Note 2.10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 10)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
2.11.1. The recoverable amounts of CGU have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use
of estimates.

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the
goodwill impairment review and the impacts on the value-in-use
calculations upon unfavourable movements of the key assumptions:

4 BESTHETRHMEE)

() WEZHE
() WEBHEBLAG - XBFECELL
EE (B 10)

AEEREN 2111 FREHER
STARBERAHLREMIE R
SELEGHTRELBRRERE
E5 EH AR - A EAEA
it -

NSSN

TEREAHEREFHMANIER
RETBRFLBANE L E A

BEFAENTE

Decrease in

value-in-use/

impairment

Movement of loss
(RMB'000)
EREERY
RERE %
(AR®T )

key assumptions

FEBRREY

Items Assumptions used
HE FrARR
Compound annual revenue growth rate -4.8%~11.7%
ERFRAREK

Long-term growth rate 2.5%

R EE

Gross margin 46.6%~46.7%
EFE

Pre-tax discount rate 15.5%

GEIEBEES

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the goodwill impairment analysis. As such, no
impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4 BREETHEFRAEE)
(CONTINUED)
() Impairment review (continued) () HEZEHE)
(i) Investment in an associate - Highland Natural Water (i) REBEELT-BRAAKHRE
The Group performs impairment analysis for investment in Highland BB 2.6 RETFE2.13FME G K
Natural Water when there is any indicator for impairment noted in R EAKERBRRETRE g%
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.6 and Note BRRAKOBREETRED T - B
2.13. The recoverable amounts of CGU have been determined based CESENNTKESBEERRBERAE
on value-in-use calculations, which was higher than fair value less BEFERZETE Z2BRAAE
costs of disposal. These calculations require the use of estimates. BEREEKRA - Bl EEERME -
The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the TERBARRERRAKWIREET
impairment review for investment in Highland Natural Water and the REEHMANTIERZLEERR
impacts on the value-in-use calculations upon unfavourable changes HRANEHREEREEAENY
of the key assumptions: 2.
Decrease in
value-in-use/
additional
Movement of impairment loss
Items Assumptions used key assumptions (RMB'000)
EREERY
BIONRERX
HE Fr RR&R TERREH (AR®F )
Compound annual 8.0%~9.1% Decrease by 1% 105,780
revenue growth rate
BEFRAERE TF1%
Long-term growth rate 2.5% Decrease to 1.5% 26,622
REPERE THZE15%
Gross margin 55.7%~55.8% Decrease by 5% 155,550
EME TFE5%
Pre-tax discount rate 12.4% Increase to 13.4% 53,956
TATBEIR & ENE13.4%

BEHKERARAF | FH 2019




R N g

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, management recorded impairment loss of
RMB873,151,000 in relation to the investment in Highland Natural
Water based on the impairment assessment performed (Note 12).
Based on management’s analysis, negative movement of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the impairment analysis for investment in Highland
Natural Water. As such, no further impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment for the year ended 31 December 2019.

(ii))  Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost

The loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the
tables in Note 3.1 (b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors of the Company that are
used to make strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling a
range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties, leasing
production lines and a plant to associates and providing lending
services to third parties in Hong Kong with relevant license.

(i)  Beer segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

The executive directors of the Company assess the performance of
the operating segments based on review of their revenue, cost of
sales and gross profit.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between
both segments. The revenue from external parties reported to
the executive directors of the Company is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the executive directors of the Company
with respect of total assets and total liabilities are measured in a
manner consistent with that of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R N g

5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2MERGE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the executive directors of BE_Z-NF+HA=1+—BLL#F
the Company for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 B ARABTESRREENERA
December 2019 is as follows: ERDPHDHFLERDT -
Inter-
Water Beer  segment
segment  segment elimination Total
KAE  EESE o EHEME gt

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR

Total segment revenue DI A 4BEB 410,953 311,855 (1,353) 721,455
Cost of sales SHE AR (151,064)  (167,429) 1,353 (317,140)
Gross profit for the year FEER 259,889 144,426 — 404,315

Impairment losses on investments A ARA
accounted for using the equity BERMEEX

method (873,151) = = (873,151)
Share of profit from associates FEIEER S A RFE 14,319 — — 14,319
Net impairment losses on CREENERXFHE

financial assets (78,718) (4,446) — (83,164)
Adjusted EBITDA* AR ETINE

KSR * (813,661) 168,873 —  (644,788)
Finance income BT 36,493 27,326 — 63,819
Finance costs BB R (45,162) (9,096) — (54,258)
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (27,400)  (53,976) — (81,376)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRETSEIAT(EIE) /R (849,730) 133,127 —  (716,603)
Income tax expenses ST ER (6,943)  (21,572) — (28,515)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(FE) /78 (856,673) 111,555 —  (745,118)
% Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation * FE - Bl IEMBHER RS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

5 ZoHERE)
(b) ZEHERKEE)

Water Beer
segment segment Total
Ko 8 4336 gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R ARBT R
Segment total assets DEEERE 2,650,909 2,375,042 5,025,951
Investments accounted for FREREARNEE
using the equity method 698,283 — 698,283
Unallocated ADE
FVPL WRRBEEEHE
FABRNEREE 197,147
FVOCI WARBEGEEEZSHA
Hit 2 HN RN EREE 231,881
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBE E 9,511
Corporate assets TrEEE 26,359
Inter-segment elimination PaR=aEIk €] (1,228,443)
Total assets nEE 4,262,406
Segment total liabilities DEbEEE 1,525,605 526,668 2,052,273
Unallocated KA
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEEE 9,695
Corporate liabilities TEAE 315,241
Inter-segment elimination 2 PRI (816,842)
Total liabilities BmeE 1,560,367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHESE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the executive directors of BHE-ZT-\F+A=1T—HLF
the Company for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 B ARABTESRREENERA
December 2018 is as follows: ERHFHLBERLT ¢
Inter-
Water Beer segment
segment segment elimination Total
KAE  EESE PR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTFT ARETT
Total segment revenue DI A 4BEB 539,501 348,518 (7,362) 880,657
Cost of sales SHE KA (226,361)  (181,529) 7,362 (400,528)
Gross profit for the year FEEF 313,140 166,989 — 480,129
Share of profit from associates JE(R B & 2 B ) 20,436 — — 20,436
Net impairment losses on ERMEERMBEIEAFE
financial assets — (1,795) — (1,795)
Adjusted EBITDA AR EBIE
PS8 IRNbE 252,197 189,599 — 441,796
Finance income A 12,071 19,784 — 31,855
Finance costs FBER (35,154) (6,951) — (42,105)
Depreciation and amortisation W8 R iy (25,694) (53,618) — (79,312)
Profit before tax B PSS AT AR 203,420 148,814 — 352,234
Income tax expenses PrETER (22,973)  (11,729) — (34,702)
Profit for the year FERE 180,447 137,085 — 317,532
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BHBREME

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) ITHEMREE)
Water
segment Total
KD E et
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT ARETT
Segment total assets DEBEE 3,389,461 5,697,916
Investments accounted for FEAESEARNIRE
using the equity method 1,574,938 1,574,938
Unallocated RAOHE
FVPL UNARBEFEEHEEZS
ﬁ)\%a SHEREE 190,795
FVOCI AREEFEAHESHHA
ﬁf’ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁﬂﬁ% 231,881
Deferred tax assets BEREHRIBEE 2,838
Corporate assets TEEE 30,614
Inter-segment elimination 2 B 8 (1,241,853)
Total assets HWEE 4,912,191
Segment total liabilities NEBEE 1,458,808 1,677,800
Unallocated KA
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIESE 15,255
Corporate liabilities trEaE 465,355
Inter-segment elimination 7 B I 8 (705,555)
Total liabilities HeE 1,452,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
Entity-Wide information
Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 6.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

During the year 2019, sales of approximately RMB59,124,000 (2018:
RMB104,516,000) are derived from associates in the water segment,
shown in Note 40 (a). Sales of approximately RMB59,531,000 (2018:
RMB89,757,000) are derived from one single external customer in the
water segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Pt 179

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 6 ZFEFAERWKA

Revenue from external customers are mainly derived from the sales of HNEEPHIMAETERBERNHEKE

water products and beer products and interest income from lending mEEEERREERREEED

services provided. The Group also sells raw materials and consumables FIESWA « REBNHE THEE QA

to associates and third parties and leases production lines and a plant KB =77 R R R FEM A R T

to associates. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows: BAREERR—BEE - WARHA
LUNNE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
e = It
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Sales of water products KEREE 353,185 429,633
Sales of beer products R E S 310,502 341,156
Sales of raw materials and consumables FEME RFEMEE 49,293 103,201
Rental income (Note 40) IR ONCE ) 6,220 2,063
Interest income from lending services provided IR{EFKIRFE LR FIBUA 2,255 4,604
721,455 880,657
Revenue from external customers of the Group were derived in the HE_E—NFr_ZT-NF+=A
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. “+—HLEFE  AEEINFEFH

WAREHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7  LAND USE RIGHTS

7

+ i fE B8

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
“E-hE —Z-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

At beginning of year F1 29,245 29,969
Amortisation charge (Note 32 & 38) BIHE R (Fi5E32 & 38) (724) (724)
At end of year FR 28,521 29,245

All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each
has a lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2019, land use rights with net book value of
RMB28,447,000 were secured for bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of RMB66,000,000 and RMB100,000,000 (Note 29) (As
at 31 December 2018, land use rights with net book value of
RMB992,000 were secured for bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of RMB66,000,000).

As at 1 January 2019, land use rights are recognised as right-of-use
assets. See Note 2.28 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 8 WE- HBMENRZRE
Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total

g7 K L] Bt ERIE it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARRTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR

At 1 January 2018 R=E-NF-A-H
Cost R 190,303 127197 3,555 24,237 74,728 1,020,020
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (48,154)  (344.336) (2,328) (16,168) — (410,986)
Impairment (a) () - 231 - - - 2,31)
Net book amount REFE 142,149 380,550 1,227 8,069 74,728 606,723
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZZ-)\F
TZA=1T-ALEE
Opening net book amount ENEEFE 142,149 380,550 1227 8,069 74728 606,723
Additions e — 5,274 182 1,218 21,470 28,744
Transfer upon completion TkEE - 12,981 - - (12,981) -
Depreciation charges (Note 32 & 38) NEBE(HEF32R38) (6,354) (48,402) (439) (1,275) - (56,470)
Closing net book amount ERRAHE 35095 B04B 150 80l 8217 57899
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=t+-H
Cost R 190,303 745,452 4,337 25,455 83,217 1,048,764
Accumulated depreciation gitiE (54508)  (392,739) (767 (17443) —  (467,456)
Impairment (a) () - 231 - - - 2,31)
Net book amount REFE 135,795 350,403 1,570 8,012 83,217 578,997
Year ended 31 December 2019 BEZZ-N%
TZR=t-ALEE

Opening net book amount ENEEFE 135,795 350,403 1,570 8,012 83,217 578,997
Additions e = 305 181 505 4,308 5,299
Transfer upon completion it 11,067 34,603 - - (45,670) -
Transfers to investment properties ERERELREHE (6,438) - - - - (6,438)
Depreciation charges (Note 32 & 38) HEBR(ME32R38) (6,200 (50,666) (370) (1,123) - (58,359)
Accumulated depreciation charges- ZHERR-BAZ

transfers to investment properties REMENE 1,584 - - - - 1,584
Closing net book amount EXGRAFE 135,808 334,645 1,381 7,394 41,855 521,083
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+=R=1-H
Cost A 194,932 780,360 4518 25,960 41,855 1,047,625
Accumulated depreciation Zithhe (59,124)  (443,404) (3131 (18,566) - (54.231)
Impairment (a) AE() - (2311) - - - (2311)
Net book amount REFE 135,808 334,645 1,381 7,394 41,855 521,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(@) Certain idle machineries with the cost amounting to
RMB2,978,000 (2018: RMB2,978,000) were considered obsolete
before 2012, and an impairment provision of RMB2,311,000
(2018: RMB2,311,000) had been made accordingly based on
the assets’ fair value less costs to sell.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

8

ME - BERREE)

©)

RZE—ZFF KABARE
2,978,000 L(ZE—N\F : AR
#2,978,0007T ) e TRIBEH S
WRIEREE YWREBEEENAA
EERHEEXABEELARE
2,311,000 L(ZZ—N\F: AR
2,311,000 7T ) BB (B R o

nE  BEERRBHECREA
Ba R - FEWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-BLEE

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-N\F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETT

Cost of sales SHE A 54,272 52,130
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 62 35
Administrative expenses THER 4,025 4,305
58,359 56,470

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was in the process of
applying for registration of the ownership certificates for
certain of its building with an aggregate net book value of
approximately RMB303,000 (2018: RMB322,000). The executive
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group is
entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the property.

Interest of RMB4,070,000 has been capitalised in assets under
construction for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB3,559,000). Interest was capitalised at the weighted
average rate of its general bank borrowings of 4.19% per
annum (2018: 3.40% per annum) (Note 34).
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R-_Z—NF+=-A=+—8"
AEBRAREFEOARE
303,000 L(ZE—N\F: AR
%322,000)ME TEFHA
MEARRERL - AARWIT
EERRASEEREEBRUS
R ERZME

BE-T-hWF+=-A=+—H
HEE ERIREEBA(
B B AR ®4,070,0007m(=
T - N\%F: AR®3,559,000
TT) o M BE—MBITEFINE
EHEFELI9%(ZZF — )\
F o EFE3.40%)EA (M
34) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

8  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 8 W¥ BERSHEE)
(@) (continued) (@ (&)
As at 31 December 2019, factory plants with net book value RZZE-NF+ZA=+—8H"
of RMB95,381,000 were secured for bank borrowings with BRHEFEA ARE95381,000
carrying amounts of RMB66,000,000 and RMB100,000,000 THRFEEHERTEREOER
(Note 29) (As at 31 December 2018, factory plants with A E 866,000,000t & A K
net book value of RMB31,352,000 were secured for bank #100,000,000 7T ) iR 77 f& X
borrowings with carrying amounts of RMB66,000,000). (29 (R=E—NF+A

=+—HB FEFEAARE
31,352,000 7T /) [ 5 B # 3 18
TEREE A AR 66,000,000
TCRISRTTIE S ©

The category of machinery includes production lines leased by BENIBBEAEEREL

the Group to two related parties (2018: one) under operating SHERMMEBEAET(ZE—-N

leases with the following net carrying amounts: Fo—R)EHENEER  RE
AEIT

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-\%F
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

Cost BN 97,559 37,145
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—A—HBZ:HE (54,336) (20,417)
Depreciation charge for the year FETEER (6,303) (2,402)
Net book amount RESE 36,920 14,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9 HBFEE

Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
L PR EEAR st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%TR AR%¥Tn AR%Tx
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-2-N\F
TZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 43,867 66,599 — 110,466
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-—RHNBAR — — 173 173
Amortisation charge (Note 32 & 38)  #$5% i (P332 % 38) (3,198) (18,888) (32) (22,118)
Closing net book amount EREMFE 40,669 47,711 141 88,521
Year ended 31 December 2019 BEZ-Z-NEt+=A
=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FORESFE 40,669 47,711 141 88,521
Amortisation charge (Note 32 & 38)  #$5% i (Pif+ 32 %2 38) (3,198) (18,888) (32) (22,118)
Closing net book amount FEREMFE 37,471 28,823 109 66,403

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2018: RMB3,230,000)
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and RMB18,888,000
(2018: RMB18,888,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs”
in the statement of profit or loss.

AR ¥3,230,000cEE—-Z
— N F: AR ¥3,230,0007T ) &
ABZENTRER] MARK
18,888,000 LA H(—Z T —)\F : A
R 18,888,000 7T ) s A B2 K A 84
ERDHEBA] -

10 GOODWILL 10 EHE
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8

2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET AREFT
Goodwill P 721,139 721,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The goodwill of RMB721,139,000 was generated from acquisition of
a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014. Tiandi Green was viewed
as one CGU within the beer segment. The recoverable amount of
the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a four-year period when
optimum market share is expected to be reached. Cash flows beyond
the four-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rates.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

10

FEMBHRRME

BEE)

AR #721,139,000 7T &) 7 2 E 4 7
“E-NFERBETREEMNITR
o Rt EHRALEERESBAK
—EREELEMN - REELENA
AlESENERTRABENGEE
RS EERTENEREMA
K BETHEHRABZEINRETS
MENEFHREN EBENTATR
ERMEER - BRNFHENRE R
EFEABEHEREHENR o

“E-NAFER-TE-N\EEREEN
AEMEANERRRMT

—E-NEF

2018
—E-N\F

2019

Compound annual revenue BEEERAERER
growth rate

Long-term growth rate REERE X

Gross margin EF=E

Pre-tax discount rate FRATALEE X

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past
performance and management's expectations on market
development. The long term growth rates used is in line with the
long term inflation rate forecast in China. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the business.

The Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of
goodwill as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

-4.8%~11.7%

4.7%~10.4%

2.5% 4.0%
46.6%~46.7% 46.1%~47.0%
15.5% 15.2%

BWARRERENEIREBERR
FEBBHMSERNEBEDE -
ANEREREEFERABREE
Bl — B TAMREIR XS ATRER
X RBREXBFABNSERR o

BEEZAN-_E-NER-T—\F
+-A=+—BEBYENERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R N g

11 SUBSIDIARIES 11 KHEAF
The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H K&
as at 31 December 2019: BERTFEMBARIMBENT :
Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/
Company name type of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities
AMRIREERY/
AR AL RS/ tERRED BRI/ BMRE ERfEER 233
Indirectly held: 2019 2018 2019 2018
ik R R O i
Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry PRC/1 January 2004/ USD16,000,000  USD16,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., ltd. Limited liability company
EEPBEEEZLRARAT P8/ TTNF-A-H 16,000,000%7%  16,000000%7T 100% 100% REER
/BRAT
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water PRC/31 October 2005 RMB118,000,000  RMB118,000,000 100% 100%  Water products
Co., Ltd. ("Tibet /Limited liability company manufacturing and sales
Glacier Mineral Water")
BEK B ABRAT RE/-3TRFTA=T-R ARE ARE 100% 100% BHERBEKER
([ B IERk ) /BRAR 118,000,000 118,000,0007
Beijing 5100 Management PRC/13 July 2007/ RMB1,000,000  RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Water products market
Consulting Co., Ltd. Limited liability company operation and
(formerly known as Beijing management
5100 Enterprise Planning
Club Co., Ltd.)
IRE-TEERHNARLT  HE/ZEFRLELATZR/ AR% ARE 100% 100% KERTFEERER
(HBERA-TE05%RE ERAR 1,000,000 7% 1,000,000
BEBERAA])
Tibet Glacier Mineral PRC/21 April 2010 RMB3,000,000  RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  Water products marketing,
Water Marketing Co., Ltd. Nimited liability company promotion, distribution
and retailing
ERIKIIBRKEHERAA mE/-F-3FMAZT-A AE® N 100% 100% &% %E A%
/BRAR 3000000% 3,000,000 REEKER
Tibet Tiandi Green PRC/28 April 2009/ RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Beer manufacturing
Beverage Development Co., Ltd.  Limited liability company and sales
BEAEEARERARLT  PE/ZTAEMACTIA AR% ARE 100% 100% REEEREE
/BRAT 200,000,000z 200,000,000
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 KMBARGE)

FEMBHRRME

Company name

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

type of legal entities

Issued/paid-in capital

Effective interest held

Principal activities

AMAIRER LS
S HMHLAS/ tEERER B/ BARA BR AR IEED
Indirectly held: 2019 2018 2019 2018
BERE: s A L A N
Wealth Keeper Ltd. Hong Kong/30 October 2012/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
Wealth Keeper Ltd. &%/-5--FTA=1H 187 157 100% 100% RERR
/BRAR
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Hong Kong/6 September 2013/ HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Ltd. Limited liability company
EHSI00kER(BE)ERAR  BE/ZF-=FNARA 100%7 100787 100% 100% REZR
/BRAR
Hong Kong Fairly Well Hong Kong/23 May 2016/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service
Capital Limited Limited liability company
FRVEEATARAA B8/ -2 ERACTZR 187 187 100% 100% HERE
/BRAR
Zhuhai Guangyuan PRC/12 January 2018/ RMB182,000,000  RMB182,000,000 98.9% 98.9%  Investment in culture,
Huijin Equity Investment Limited partnership entertainment, consumer
Fund (Limited Partnership) product, retail business
and related industries
REREESHEREES t8/-5-/\§-A+ZH ARH AR® 98.9% 989% Wi K% EEm
(BRA%) VLG 182,000,00075 182,000,000 FEXBRAEAERE
Center Faithful Limited Hong Kong/2 January 2019/ HKD1 - 100% —  Investment holding
Limited liability company
PAELRARAT B#/-Z-nF-AZH 187 - 100% - REBR
/BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RamMERRIE
12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

12 ERESREARNRE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018

“E-hE —Z-N\F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR% T ARBFTT

Opening net book amount FEREFE 1,574,938 1,326,300
Additions (a) B (a) 21,020 306,930
Share of profits (Note 38) FEAGFIE (P 3E38) 14,319 20,436
Transfer to a subsidiary EHEE—HNEAR — (46,364)
Declaration of dividend (b) KA E (b) (38,843) (32,364)
Impairment loss recognised (c) ERREEX (0 (873,151) —
Closing net book amount FREMEFE 698,283 1,574,938

(a)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

In May 2019, Center Faithful Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and third parties entered into an
agreement to establish a company named Great Wall 5100.
Great Wall 5100 is a company specialising in the distribution
of water products. Based on the articles of association of Great
Wall 5100, the Group owns 40% of its equity interests and has
right to participate in operational decision-making process of
Great Wall 5100. As such, the Group treats the investment as
an investment accounted for using the equity method. As at 31
December 2019, total equity contribution to Great Wall 5100 is
RMB20,000,000, including cash payment of RMB4,000,000 and
other payables of RMB16,000,000.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

@ WNZZE—NFRA ARAZ2
EMBARIFHELEERA
BEE= RN HE KRR
I-ZEZ - REA-TTE XK
BN HKERNAT - BIERK
BA-—SEHRRER  £%5E
BERPA—TT40%MER
REESBEGEAKBE -
bt AEERZREREAER
FEANEHRE - RZE—NF
+-A=+—RB HEBE—-F
TEENERHEBEAARK
20,000,0007T * BIER & HE
AR 4,000,000 7T} H 4 fE {+
FAR¥ 16,000,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(continued)

On 6 September 2019, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and third parties entered into
an agreement to establish a company named Mingzhu 5100.
Mingzhu 5100 is a company specialising in the distribution of
water products. Based on the articles of association of Mingzhu
5100, the Group owns 34% of its equity interests and has
right to participate in operational decision-making process of
Mingzhu 5100. As such, the Group treats the investment as an
investment accounted for using the equity method. As at 31
December 2019, total equity contribution to Mingzhu 5100 is
RMB1,020,000.

In 2019, Highland Natural Water, an associate, declared cash
dividends. The Group recognised RMB38,843,000 cash dividends
according to the percentage of the equity interests held by the
Group.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment
in Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the
investment is determined based on value-in-use calculations,
which is higher than fair value less disposal costs. Management
assessed the recoverable amount and recognised an impairment
loss of RMB873,151,000 (2018: nil). The main factors that
led to the impairment is the continuous weakness of market
performance.

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on

financial budgets approved by management covering an eight-

year period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.

Cash flows beyond the eight-year period are extrapolated using the

estimated growth rate.

FEMBHRRME

12 ERESREARNREE)

(a)

(&)

RZFE—NAFNLARNBE AR
AZ2EWBRARTEE KB
RKEE=FEILHE KL
EREY= 11z E Sttt (/NI
A -2 5 HEMEEK
EmDHENAR - REAKA—
ZEMNRAER  AEBEHEEH
GR—TT34%#EE TAE
DEHLERKBIE - At - K
SERZBRERFAESZEAN
RHRE-R-_F—-AF+=
A=+—H HHKA—ZZ
EHNEZHEREAARYE
1,020,000 7T °

RZE-N%F BEQRRRX
MKERBRERE - FEERE
AKEMFHEREL D LLRRRE
% B AR H 38,843,000 7T °

EEEUNSRRANKNZEE
TTREDH - HEK T IRE S5
DERCAEENGERRA
REEREEXRA)ETE - BE
BT e B RRER
KB ANRHE873,151,00070(=
T-N\F: &) BIHAENE
ZREAMSRABFER -

HEHEERTER TR EREE
BTHNBAZRIBETSHEL
NEBEOHBEEZRARE R
B BB\ FHEORERENDRE
MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

12 ERESREARNREE)

“E-NAER-E-N\FEREED
AEMERNIRHRRWT

2019 2018
—2-0F Ak

Compound annual revenue EAFWRALREXR

growth rate

Long-term growth rate REIER X
Gross margin EFE
Pre-tax discount rate T AIBL IR K

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past
performance and management's expectations on market
development. The long term growth rates used is in line with the
long term inflation rate forecast in China. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the business.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019

8.0%~9.1% 24.0%~28.1% from
2019 to 2021;

7.3%~24.6% from

2022 to 2026

“T-NEFE

T 55K

24.0%~28.1% :

T FFE

“TIRER

7.3%~24.6%

2.5% 3.0%
55.7% ~55.8% 55.4%~58.5%
12.4% 12.5%

WAREERENEIREBERR
FEBBHMSERNOBHFE
AMEREREEFENRIBEREK
OB —2 - FTAMRER KRBT AR R
o REREZEERNEERR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 FEARSZEARNREE)
(CONTINUED)
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEHIR-_ZE-NF+A=+—
2019. AREEZBERR -
Place of % of
business/country ownership Measurement
Name of entity of incorporation interest  Principal activities method
MY G ERRE
BREEM ot A S B R wASL FTEXEK B9
Tibet Highland Natural The PRC 43.981 Manufacturing and distribution Equity
Water Limited of water products
AR ERAAKBRAR I 43.981 BLERDHKER s
Tibet Fudi Natural The PRC 25 Manufacturing and Equity
Beverage Packaging Ltd. distribution of bottle

preforms, caps and other raw
materials and consumables

FRE AR R @K R 25 BEROHBKRES s
BEREAERTA] oAt R R A

Great Wall 5100 The PRC 40 Distribution of water products  Equity
Technology Co., Ltd.

A —ZTRRERAA HE 40 DIHKEmS #am

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 The PRC 34 Distribution of water products  Equity
Drinking Water Co., Ltd.

BMNTHAKA—TT HE 34 DEKEMS B
HRAKER AT

There is no contingent liability relating to the Group's interest in W E AR BN LS AR RE

above associates, and the proportion of ownership interest is the mEMHNNABE BMERERL

same as the proportion of voting rights held. IR PR FF IR RAELL BIARTR) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 FRESEARNKRESE)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland EABELNANBERBE-SEX
Natural Water AKX
Based on the opinion of the Directors, the Group has one associate REEENER AEEHEF—HE
- Highland Natural Water that is considered as material. The tables REOVEE AR —RRRAK TRH
below provide the summarised financial information of the Highland SIRBRRAKZABEERBE o

Natural Water.

Summarised balance sheet BEEEERHE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—-8
2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Current wE

Cash and cash equivalents BeRREeEEY 157,936 91,767
Other current assets Hip B &= 462,239 446,388
Total current assets MENEERE 620,175 538,155
Borrowings fa (444,850) (572,460)
Other current liabilities HipmeaE (282,866) (57,315)
Total current liabilities VEINERE At (727,716) (629,775)
Total current net liabilities e FaEEsE (107,541) (91,620)
Non-current FERE

Assets BE 637,971 680,573
Other liabilities HmaE (23,435) (25,948)
Total non-current net assets FERBFEERT 614,536 654,625
Net assets FEE 506,995 563,005
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 FRESEARNKRESE)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2HBBRRBE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
e A G
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Revenue WA 451,554 460,726
Pre-tax profit from continuing operations & E K& EKE KR AT FE 36,052 50,629
Income tax expense FrSTER (3,746) (4,244)
Post-tax profit for the year FRKRBERE 32,305 46,385
Total comprehensive income 2HNRAE 32,305 46,385
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial A EBER R EESRXAKTER
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in KPMEINTE  EREAEERES
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water. RRAKZHGFHERENZERELT
ﬁEk o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural

Water:

12

EREREARNRE®)

MBRERBENEER

REJMHEEMMBREAZENRR
RIRK R 2 1O AR L B A 1R

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2019 2018

“E-NE —T-N\%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBFT

Opening net assets 1 January R—A—BNENFEE 563,005 588,862

Profit for the year FRMHE 32,305 46,385

Declared of dividends FIRRE (88,315) (78,939)

Deferred tax liabilities adjustments EERIEEERHE — 6,697

Closing net assets FRIFEE 506,995 563,005
Elimination of unrealised profit from inter- REIR RS0 E R B HEE

company sales (562) (315)

Adjusted total net assets HEENETEE 506,433 562,690

Interest in the associate B DB ER 211,347 234,030

Goodwill P 280,256 1,153,407

Carrying value FEE 491,603 1,387,437




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES 13 EWESR

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2019 2018
“E-hE —Z-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Trade receivables due from third parties WE=FESHK 312,652 270,397
Loan receivables due from a third party (a) FEWE =B () 24,088 21,321
336,740 291,718
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1-b) A EREE (R 3.1-b) (77,749) (1,833)
258,991 289,885
Trade receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised Wil I EEIN R - BIE R
are written off against the provision when there is no expectation of RMEBENERE SRS TEEN
recovering additional cash. For the year 2019, impairment provision HoRZTE—NF BRBREEEA
amounting to RMB77,749,000 were recognised. E#¥ 77,749,000 7T °
(@) This balance includes a loan to a third party amounting () ZEHRBEE-—BEETE=AfE
to HKD26,890,000 (equivalent to RMB24,088,000, 2018: 726,890,000% L1 B » A
RMB21,321,000), which represents lending principal of R 24,088,000 —&— )N\
HKD17,000,000 (equivalent to RMB15,229,000, 2018: & AR¥21,321,0007T) » &
RMB14,895,000) and accrued interest of HKD9,890,000 F & F AR € 17,000,000 5% 70 (48
(equivalent to RMB8,859,000, 2018: RMB6,426,000). The g N A K #¥15,229,000T 0 =
lending is at a fixed interest rate at 15% per annum after 23 Z—\F: AR®14,895,000
April 2018. This loan is secured by the borrower's property 7t ) & FE &+ F £.9,890,000 4 7T
located in Beijing. (18 & M AR 8,859,000

—T-N\F: AE¥6,426,000
) RZE-N\FOA-+=
A& EFRNEEFHNER
15% ° ZEFTABRANILRY
EI (S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

R N g

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's trade receivables
due from third parties were all denominated in RMB and the Group's
loan receivables due from a third party were all denominated in HKD.
The aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice dates is as
follows:

13 EBWRESRGE)
RZE-NFERZT-NF+ZA
=t+—H AEBEERE=ZFEFX
HUAREHENASERKE=F
ERENETTEE REZRAHE
DZEWREZFRRAITWT -

As at 31 December

W+t=-HA=+-H
2019 2018
“E-hE —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETT
Within 6 months 6MEAMA 161,775 180,205
Over 6 months but within 1 year BiB6EAETBBF 75,426 46,220
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB1FETBB2F 67,027 61,532
Over 2 years HBiB2F 32,512 3,761
336,740 291,718

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure the expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance. For the trade receivables arising from loans to third
parties, the Group uses three categories which reflect their credit
risk and how the loan loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. This resulted in the recognition of loss allowance for
trade receivables amounting to RMB77,749,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019. Note 3.1 (b) provides for details about the
calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group’s exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 3.1 (b).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of the
above trade receivables approximated their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 14 RERHESHNESRMITE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERATIERMIA:

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—-8
2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Pt AR® TR ARETT

Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NESRKAGTENSREE
- Trade receivables —EREZH 13 258,991 289,885
— Other financial assets at — AR ARG ER
amortised cost HitvemEE 16 831,736 641,117
- Cash and cash equivalents -HBeRBEEEY 20 515,510 277,152
FVOCl WARBEGEEHEZRA
HEtn 2 ERENSREE 19 231,881 231,881
FVPL WARBEGTEEHEZRA
BRnemEE 18 197,147 190,795
2,035,265 1,630,830
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ ABBRAAGFENCREE
- Trade and notes payables —~ENEIFRENERE 27 323,881 78,721
— Other financial liabilities —-HiheraR 398,562 111,198
- Bank borrowings —RITER 29 716,000 701,000
- Convertible bond —ABRRES
- liability component -8R 30 — 457,673
1,438,443 1,348,592
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 PREPAYMENTS

15

BANRE

As at 31 December

W+=B=+-H
2019 2018
—E-NE —T-N\%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Prepayments made for purchase of BERMH - RIERE
raw materials, services, and equipment BT FE 121,946 180,165
Less: Do
Non-current portion - prepayments made FEREBHBH —BERMEN
for purchase of equipment (a) Ta T FUE (a) (6,518) (38,613)
Current portion BB 115,428 141,552

(@) These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase

of equipment, the ownership of which
at year end.

has not been obtained

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are

denominated in the following currencies:

() ZEEBEABERBEMA
R FREARER) B &5

15 -

mEBRIFRB AN FKENREEAT

NE#EHE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-)\f
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
- RMB - AR 119,420 176,771
- HKD —BT 496 1,197
- Usb = — 72
- EUR —BT 2,030 2,125
121,946 180,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 16 DEBHBAATENEGCEREE

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Amounts due from third parties (a) ﬁ”ﬁ%iﬁﬁlﬁ(a) 612,710 576,421
Amounts due from associates (b) (Note 40)  FEUER & N B 738 (b) (KX 40) 189,800 22,877
Government grant receivable Eﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁmﬁqﬁlﬂ 24,320 37,800
Deposits e 213 335
Others Hitb 6,861 3,684

833,904 641,117
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1-b) W B AR EE (KTEE3.1-b) (2,168) —

831,736 641,117
(a) The balances mainly include the following items: EHIEREATIESR -

The loan to a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB223,000,000 (2018:
RMB213,083,000) and accrued interest of RMB3,631,000
(2018: RMB1,427,000), which bore an annual interest rate
of 10%. The repayment terms of the loan are based on
the following schedule: repayments of RMB42,000,000,
RMB3,000,000 and RMB178,000,000 on 30 October
2020, 18 December 2020 and 30 December 2020
respectively. Amounting to RMB226,631,000 was pledged
by 11.5% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests and
secured by Fudi Packaging’'s machinery.

RE#F-HE=FRAEK
EEXRAEEEAEARE
223,000,000 (= — N\
F: AR 213,083,000

TIZEFKREFAFEAR
#3,631,000c(=ZZF— N\
F: AN R ¥1,427,000
o) FRERZ10% © %
ERETIEEEE -
R-ZZE-_ZTF+A=+
H - Z2-_ZE&+_-A
TNARZZE=ZFF+=
A=Z+HRIEEAR
#42,000,000c* A R
#3,000,0007C & A R ¥
178,000,0007C » & % A
R #226,631,0007T A 1L
RN EMI1.5%KED
BRBEhBE s #ESE
HH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

(a)

(conti

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

nued)

The loan to a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB324,286,000 (2018:
RMB175,880,000) and accrued interest of RMB19,281,000
(2018: RMB1,764,000), which bore an annual interest
rate of 10%. Based on the contractual terms, the loan
will be repaid before 31 December 2020. Amounting
to RMB343,567,000 was pledged by 26% of Shannan
Yalaxiangbu's equity interests.

The loan to a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB32,000,000 (2018: nil),
which bore an annual interest rate of 10%. Based on
the contractual terms, the loan will be repaid before
31 December 2020. Amounting to RMB32,000,000
was pledged by 2.5% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity
interests.

Amount due from a third party company of RMB5,836,000
(2018: nil) was mainly the prepayment made for purchase
of equipment, which was transferred to other financial
assets at amortised cost due to the rescission of contracts.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED) 16 LNEHBHEAGENHLEREE
(%)
(b) As at 31 December 2019, the balance represents a loan by RZE-—NF+_A=+-—
to Highland Natural Water, with principal amount of = %’é%?akf TaRRRAK
RMB 189,800,000 (2018: nil), which bore an annual interest rate LEF KReeBEAARE
of 10% and was unsecured. Based on the contractual terms, 189,800,0007C(= & — \ F
the loan will be repaid before 30 June 2020. ) FHEE10% BAEK
o RBEOKK - ZEFER
“ECTFRA=ZTHAMEER -
An increase of the loss allowance for the year ended 31 December BE_Z-NF+A=1+—BLLE
2019 by RMB2,168,000 was recognised for other financial assets at B mABSRKAGENEMERE
amortised cost. ERRBAREL AR 2,168,000
IE o
Information about the impairment of other financial assets at BENESKAENEMEREE
amortised cost and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found RERAEBEERRBAENENS
in Note 3.1 (b). RFEE3.1(b) °
The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are NERKATENEMEREENR
denominated in the following currencies: HENTIESEE -
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
- RMB - AR#® 825,396 640,930
- EUR —BT 5,836 —
— HKD —BT 494 177
- Usb —% 10 10

831,736 641,117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVENTORIES 17 ®E
As at 31 December
Rt+=-B=+-8H
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\EF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Raw materials RAE 33,445 88,171
Finished goods - at cost K & — IR A AR 16,411 6,652
Work in progress TR 2,860 4,337
52,716 99,160
The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense BE_ZT-NF+A=1+—BLL#F
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately B BREERYHAIEEREIN
RMB299,310,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: FERARL A AR 299,310,000 7T
RMB383,651,000). (ZZ2=—NF: AR®383,651,000
JT)
As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group's RZZE-NF+ZA=+—0 K&
inventories did not exceed the net realisable value, and no provision BrEEvEEBEYRABRYERF

for decline of the value of inventories was made.

The costs of individual items of inventory are determined using
monthly weighted average costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 18 URABEFERHEHTAER

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREF T
At 1 January ®—B—H 190,795 183,181
Additions in structured financial products ERUEBVEMAE 520,000 680,000
(Expiration)/Acquisition of BARSTEEE(RH),/
embedded derivative asset WHERARITEEE (4,319) 4,319
Investment in Shanghai MKT (a) BER LEEER ) 5,000 —
Net gains recognised upon disposal HE R RN EF 5
(Note 31 & 38) (PH#E31 K 38) 10,198 17,591
Fair value changes recorded in STARMAEHAAEELZS
other gains (Note 31 & 38) (Mts£31 % 38) 630 9,179
Disposals in structured financial products EEUBEMEMLE (525,157) (703,475)
At 31 December R+=R=t-H 197,147 190,795
Less: non-current portion W EmENE D (16,517) (11,517)
Current portion WENE D 180,630 179,278
(@) In May 2019, Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin Equity Investment Fund (@ HEZZT—NFAA ARAWE
(Limited Partnership), a subsidiary of the Company, acquired RAKBREESREREES
20% of the equity interests of Shanghai MKT. Shanghai (BERE®)WE LR ERN
MKT is a company specialising in programme development 0% R EEEERE—R
and intelligence property agency. As at 31 December 2019, MRS RARERER
total investment in Shanghai MKT is RMB5,000,000, which is BHAR - RZE—NF+RA
accounted as FVPL by the Group. =+—B #LEEEENER

BB AR5 000,0007 0 AE
BSEEAAARBETELH
EEFANBENEMEEAR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

All FVPL are denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining
fair value is provided in Note 3.3.

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

18

19

UAAREBEFEBEEESEHFAERSE
NWERMEEE)
RZE-NFRZZF-NF+ZA
=+—B UAREBEFEEEEZS
HFAERNEREESHUARKER
=

BREEAABEMANITERER
HERENHES3 -

URRBEFTEERSBH AHM
2HBSENEMEE

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-A
2019 2018
—g-nF  -TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETR ARETT

At 1 January R—A-—H 231,881 58,000
Acquisition of Shannan Yalaxiangbu WL BN AR — 173,881
At 31 December R+=—H=+—H 231,881 231,881
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 BERBEEEY

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—-8H
2019 2018
“E-hE —Z-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Cash on hand FHEES 596 634
Cash at bank RITER 452,675 266,988
Restricted cash XBRERS 62,239 9,530
515,510 277,152
Denominated in: FHEEH
- RMB — AR 513,971 269,402
- Usb — £ 1,017 4,179
- HKD — BT 450 3,309
- Others —Hft 72 262
515,510 277,152
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents RZE-AFE+_A=+—H ' K
amounting to RMB514,208,000 (2018: RMB267,693,000) were held ESENBEEEREEEPDARE
in the financial institutions located in the mainland of PRC. The 514,208,000 T(ZZE—\F : AR
remaining balances of RMB706,000 (2018: RMB8,825,000) were 267,693,0007T) - F B ARES € Bl
held in major financial institutions located in the Hong Kong Special RS - A T AR 706,0007T(=
Administrative Region. ZT—N\F: AR%8,825000T)HE

BRNTRRENEIESREERSE -

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies MARBTENESR LR ABINEUAR
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of BINER B REEEL - AETHE
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange BUT A8 69 1B B SN & 1138 B SR AR 1 o

control promulgated by the PRC government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.01% to 1.35% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: range from 0.01% to 4.05% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits of RMB62,239,000 (2018:
RMB9,530,000) are restricted mainly as guarantee for payments of
bank acceptances and imported equipment.

20

RehASEEWE)
AEERFBRITERMERLETE
FEBMAE  HE-_T-NAF+=A
ZS+—BLEFE BRFHNENT
001%ZE135%(=Z— \F : FF
EANTF0.01% £4.05%) °

R-E—hE+=-A=+—H TR
#8177 XA R #62,239,000 (=
T—)\F: AR®09,530,000t)FZ
ERIBITHRRIEZEREAQRENMTRK
ER o

21 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 21 BRARRGEE
Equivalent
Number of Nominal nominal
ordinary value of value
shares ordinary  of ordinary Share

(thousands) shares shares premium Total
LERHME LER

(Th) EZEREREE KEESE KB aE @t

HKD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TEx ARETn ARETn  ARETR

Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZB-NE
-B—BH&Es 2,568,893 25,689 21,363 1,206,829 1,228,192

Reclassification from other reserve BEMRBEENIE

(Note 23) (MzE23) — — - 18,385 18,385

Balance as at 31 December 2019 RZE-RE
+ZA=+-RfEs 2,568,893 25,689 21,363 1,225,214 1,246,577
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The movement of shares held for share award scheme is as follows:

FEMBHRRME

22 RERHEBITESEORG

RERE S ANROESMT

Number of

ordinary shares

(thousands)
EERHE RMB’000
(&) AR®TR

Opening balance 1 January 2018 R-ZZ-N\E

—B—BNENEEH 60,626 158,868
Shares bought back (a) R EE[E (a) 5,000 14,169
Balance 31 December 2018 RIE-N\E

+-A=1+—-BWEsH 65,626 173,037
Balance 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hEF

TZR=+—BW&tk 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (i) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with Bank
of Communications Trustee Ltd. (the “Trustee”) to establish a share
award scheme trust (“Share Award Trust”), where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group purchased
5,000,000 shares of the Company through the Trustee for a
total consideration of RMB14,169,000. As at 31 December
2019 and 2018, no share has been granted by the Group to any
parties under the above mentioned share award scheme.

RZZE—tFN\ATN\E TEEK
m—IRR D SRR AT 8 B T () BB
RELET2EERFRD (i) 5E
FBBETALRAKE T K(ii)
REET2REBRENARRMEE
B o RIBEFTEAR - KRAKEA R
AERSEERHARRRRD

RZF—tFNLANR AEEER
BROIGTERIAZEREADIL
19 3% AR 3L B £ 2 B &t B E 2 ([ R
BRERE]) Bl ZEATRER
SENETRRAEERAHTSE
BIRBARRLAR - RO REIE
AEARHENERRAKBSRAM
B#KREEARK -

@ #HE-_Z-N\F+=-A=+—-H
HEE AEBEBEBXTABE
5,000,000 R A A @ fn - K
BB AE®14,169,0007C ° 7
ZE-NEFERZE-N\FT+ZH
=+—H AEEHERE L@
B 1 SRR R &I R ] — 5 B
Bl
BARKEFRERART | £, 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23 OTHER RESERVES 23 Httif#E
Convertible
Statutory Currency  Investment bond-
Capital surplus  translation  revaluation equity
reserve reserve  differences reserve  component Total

A e RE TRERRS
BrdfE  BBORE  FEEE EGRGE  -REEs Eh
RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AR®Tn ARMTn ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Balance at 31 December 2017 R=%-1&
TZR=t+-AMLs 32,847 175,156 (40,351) 5,884 18,385 191,921
Change in accounting policy SHBRE — - - (5,884) - (5,884)
Restated total equity ERR=2-tF
as at 31 December 2017 tZA=1-A
WERAE 32,847 175,156 (40,351) — 18,385 186,037
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZB-N§
—-B-RNER 32,847 175,156 (40,351) - 18,385 186,037
Currency translation differences NEREES - - (18,455) - - (18,455)
Appropriations to statutory RNETRBLAES
surplus reserve — 10,342 — — — 10,342
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NE
TZA=+-H 32,847 185,498 (58,806) — 18,385 177,924
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZ-1§
—-A-Bf&& 32,847 185,498 (58,806) - 18,385 177,924
Currency translation differences NEREES = = (12,235) - - (12,235)
Reclassification to share premium ENARERNER = - - - (18,385) (18,385)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-n§
TZA=t-H 32,847 185,498 (71,041) = = 147,304
(@) Nature and purpose of other reserves (a) HMREEMNMHEEREHN
(i)  Capital reserve (i) EXHEE
Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the BREFEBERASS L
share capital are recorded as capital reserve. This reserve RENGEE ZRBETH
is also used to record the differences described in Note FA RS BX B &E 2.4 B it 7T B
2.4 which may arise as a result of transactions with non- KA GBHEBREHED
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control. HEERBEREIRIPE

G0k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

23 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 23 Hftefdts (&)
(a) Nature and purpose of other reserves (continued) (a) HtRBEWHERBEWE)

(i) Statutory surplus reserve (i) EEBBIAES
According to the provisions of the articles of association TR IR 7R & B i 7 B # B
of the Group's subsidiaries located in PRC (“PRC BRAR(HEKEAR])
subsidiaries”), the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside 4B = AR AR AR S -
10% of its profit attributable to owners after tax as BB AR BEFE /AT
indicated in their statutory financial statements for the MBBMEAMTEBEA AR
statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve has LR FIER 10% BIEE
reached 50% of the entity’s registered share capital) each TEBRABES(ERES
year. PRC subsidiaries may also make appropriations from EEERIMBKRAS0%E
its profit attributable to shareholders to a discretionary BRAN) o AR EIRT B A RIIRA]
surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a resolution ERBRREARGEBERZ
passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These reserves R AR IR R IEGF)E
cannot be used for purposes other than those for which RRAEEBHBRAEEZ K
they are created and are not distributable as cash RIELRIH B %
dividends without the prior approval obtained from the ERBEeTEAEREMA
shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under # BRERTEBRLTE
specific circumstances. BRERBRRERE EEEH

SN RABRERER

BOR -
When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to BEETRBLEETIEMN
make good for any losses of the PRC subsidiaries from BEPENBLARIARE
previous years, the current year profit attributable to the BEEE AFENESR
owners shall be used to make good the losses before any AEEF B ERIUVEE
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve. BANELAAERRE

B
The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus BB R R A TE B
reserve and the capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may NEE AERHBLES
be converted into share capital of the PRC subsidiaries RERPEEUELERR
provided it is approved by a resolution passed in a FEBAHAERLER
shareholders’ general meeting and meets other regulatory HeEMmEERTETER
requirements with the provision that the ending balance HERA  BEEROEER
of the statutory surplus reserve does not fall below 25% BRAEENMF LR MR
of the registered share capital amount. KH)25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

23 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Nature and purpose of other reserves (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Statutory surplus reserve (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the reserve of the PRC
subsidiaries has reached 50% of the entity’s registered
share capital. No statutory surplus reserve accrued for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Currency translation differences

Exchange differences arising from the different between
functional and presentation currency are recognised in
other comprehensive income as described in Note 2.8 and
accumulated in a separate reserve within equity.

Investment revaluation reserve

Changes in the fair value and exchange differences
arising on translation of investments that are classified as
FVOCI are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate reserve in equity. Amounts are
reclassified to profit or loss when the associated assets
are sold or impaired, see accounting policy Note 2.14 for
details.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the convertible
bonds. The entity shall transfer the part initially included
in other reserve to share premium upon expiry.
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23 Hftefdts (&)

(a)

HittEENHEERBENE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

24  DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24 EEFEB
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as EEHEEENELEHIEARN DN
follows: W

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2019 2018

S A G
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Deferred tax assets: EERBEE :
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered —R2{EARKEMERERBEE
after 12 months 9,006 2,377
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered —1R2{EARKEMEERBEE
within 12 months 505 461
9,511 2,838
Deferred tax liabilities: EEREBEEE
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — 12 R BWEHELCHIEEE
after 12 months (7,624) (13,032)
— Deferred tax liabilities to be — 128 A AU ElH R IE & E
recovered within 12 months (2,071) (2,223)
(9,695) (15,255)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERME
24  DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 24 REFREBL(E)
The gross movement of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax EXRBEERELERIBEENE
liabilities is as follows: BEET
Year ended 31 December
BZE+t-A=+t—-HLEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Deferred tax assets: ELEHBEE :
At beginning of year F1 2,838 2,895
Statement of profit or loss credited/(charged) 1BHEREL,/ (Gt A) 6,673 (57)
At end of year FR 9,511 2,838
Deferred tax liabilities: EEBEAE
At beginning of year =) (15,255) (18,572)
Statement of profit or loss credited Em kB 5,560 3,317
At end of year FR (9,695) (15,255)
The credited to statement of profit or loss is as follows: BaRELMT
Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=t—-HLEE
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% TR ARBFT
Deferred tax assets RIETIBEE (6,673) 57
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE (5,560) (3,317)
Credited to statement of BRREL(MEE35)
profit or loss (Note 35) (12,233) (3,260)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

FEMBHRRME

24 REEFREBL(E)

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December RZZE—NF+ZA=+—8B K&
2019 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities MEBEEENBBEEHIKREKE A
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities. REZEELCHBEEREBERAN
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is PSR B TRRBEBARK - FRE
as follows: EHBEENEBENEFHOT :
Net Other
impairment Deferred Withholding  temporary
losses income tax  differences Total
Hit
BEEXFE EEWER ENH  ERMEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT AR¥®Tn AR¥®Tn AR¥®Tn AR%®Tx
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\F-A—H 347 2,008 — 540 2,895
(Charged)/credited to BRRGIA)/EE
statement of profit or loss — (232) — 175 (57)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF
+-A=t-H 347 1,776 — 715 2,838
(Charged)/credited to BHERGIA)/E]
statement of profit or loss 7,006 (46) — (287) 6,673
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+-A=1+-H 7,353 1,730 — 428 9,511
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—-H—H — — — (18,572) (18,572)
(Charged)/credited to BREGIA) /&R
statement of profit or loss — — (2,500) 5,817 3,317
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+-A=1+—-H — — (2,500) (12,755) (15,255)
Credited to statement of BRRET
profit or loss — — 2,500 3,060 5,560
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-NEF
+-A=t-H — — — (9,695) (9,695)

BRHKERARAF | F& 2019
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2019, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could
be utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be
offset by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group,
as there is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group
did not recognise deferred tax assets of RMB10,985,000 (2018:
RMB9,450,000) in respect of losses amounting to RMB43,955,000
(2018: RMB37,813,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. Losses of RMB43,955,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB37,813,000) will expire on the following dates to offset
the future taxable income:

24

EEFTEHR(E)
R-ZE—AE+=-A=+—8 &F
BT /8 2 B B R R R B U A S A TR
HERUEE MZEWNBRTANE
B RASBEEMKE QR ER
B AR - RAEYTAEEEHEN
EETRI R I FITRER - UARKEI &
FABERARERTHBRANEBEAR
#43,955,000c(Z T —\F: AR
% 37,813,000 ERELERIBE E
AR #10,985000 (=T — )\ F :
AR #9,450,000C) c R=ZT— A
F+Z A=+ —HEBERRERT WK
AH) A R #43,955,000 (= F— N\
F: ANR#37,813,0007T) &8 E
A& B EE | T

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
ZE-NE —E-N\F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

Expiring in BT FERE®
- 2021 —-—ZT-—fF 14,625 14,625
-2022 - . 15,644 15,644
-2023 —-—ZT-=fF 7,544 7,544
-2024 ——ZE-NF 6,142 —
43,955 37,813

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB134,057,000 (2018: RMB235,281,000)
had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting to
RMB1,841,140,000 (2018: RMB2,804,906,000) of the Company's
PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to distribute these
retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25

FEMBHRRME

AR

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Sales of water cards SHEKFR 861 14,697
Sales of water and beer products HEKERREBEER 28,548 6,528
29,409 21,225

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's contract liabilities
were all denominated in RMB. The Group recognised revenue
amounting to RMB140,762,000 relating to contract liabilities for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB75,416,000).

DEFERRED REVENUE

26

RZE-NFR-_E-NF+=A
=t+—H FEEHNEREEHUA
REE - AEBREBZE_ZT—NF
+tZA=+—HLEFEMEREEAR
AR 140,762,000 L(— 22— N\F:
AR 75,416,000 7T ) BERULA o

EEWA

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Non-current FERE

Government grant BT #7 B) 18,517 20,942
Current E

Government grant BT 47 B 2,373 2,373

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s deferred revenue
was all denominated in RMB.

RZE-—AFR-_ZE—NF+-A
=t+—H8 REEMWETHAZIA
AR E -

BEHEKERBERLAT | £ 2019




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e g

27 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 27 ENESRREAERE
As at 31 December
R+=B=+—-8H
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Trade payables ERE SN 64,202 73,275
Notes payables ANES 259,679 5,446
323,881 78,721
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the aging analysis of trade RZE-NERZZE-NF+ZHA
payables based on invoice dates is as follows: =t+—H EREZHHNENES
FHBRER DT

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2019 2018
—E-NE —ET-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Within 3 months 3{E AR 34,180 56,232
Over 3 months but within 6 months BE3EAETEGE6EA 13,147 9,983
Over 6 months but within 1 year BB EAETER1F 9,528 2,386
Over 1 year but within 2 years i1 FETBB2F 3,136 548
Over 2 years HBiE2F 4,211 4,126

64,202 73,275
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's trade payables were
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 90 days of
recognition.

The carrying amounts of trade payables are considered to be the

same as their fair values.

The bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB188,663,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the Company.
The bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB71,016,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and a third party company, and was
pledged by 7% of an associate’s equity interests. According to
the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity dates of notes
payables are based on the following schedule: RMB68,790,000,
RMB110,577,000, RMB9,296,000 and RMB71,016,000 on 18 January
2020, 29 February 2020, 10 April 2020 and 25 December 2020,
respectively. The amount of RMB179,367,000 was repaid subsequent
to the balance sheet date.

27

FEMBHRRME

ENEZRREAREE)
RZE-NFERZT-NF+ZA
=+—H AEBEHNEFESTHEU
AREFEBL TS °

BRESRAEKPE —RAERE
90 HA S »

ENEZROEEERRASEAAR
{BERR -

AR ¥ 188,663,000 7T Hy R 17 & 3 [
ZHARNBRAANT—FEWNE QAR
HRFE - AKR®71,016,0007T A iR
TERREZHARAE—BEZAR
ARMERE  UEE QA 7% BaRE
B RIBERTANLEZRE BN
ERZIHBERTIFE : RZF
—EF—-A+/\B ZZE=ZEF=A
“thB-ZEZTFMOA+THRZ
E-EF+-_A-+RBIHENFGE
DRl A AR 68,790,000 « AR
110,577,0007C + AR % 9,296,000 7T
R AR¥71,016,0007C - BHEARK
179,367,000 TR BREEEBER
BiREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 FEARERARHMENSR

As at 31 December

Rt+=-B=+-8H
2019 2018
“E-hE —Z-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Salary payables [ ANE 3,829 3,278
Welfare payables FEH & F 12,850 7,637
Payables for value added tax and FEBIBEN K E AT
other taxes 10,896 7,579
Accrued operating expenses TREEE R 9,125 18,353
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBRENRIE 13,798 14,248
Audit fee payable BB E 6,288 6,060
Professional service fee payable BN EEREE 4,277 5,363
Amounts payable for equity investment JERT B &N Bl IR A 2 FRIE
in associates 16,000 9,430
Amounts received from a third party RE=FWEIHFIA 49,044 49,044
Deposits from customers BEER 1,298 1,434
Borrowings from third parties (a) FE=F1EF () 290,309 —
Others Hith 8,423 7,266
426,137 129,692
Less: L
Non-current portion - other payables FERETH — HEN
for equity investment in an associate —FEBERARRIRE ZRIE 16,000 —
Current portion REBD 410,137 129,692
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

The balances include the following items:

The loan from a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB1,792,000 and accrued
interest of RMB62,000 (2018: nil). The loan bore an
annual interest at 6% and is repayable on 2 December
2020.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB181,134,000 and accrued
interest of RMB6,297,000 (2018: nil). The loan, which was
mainly used for the repayment of convertible bonds, bore
an annual interest at 7% and is repayable 30 June 2020.
The lending company is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter
Jian's spouse, and Mr. Wang Peter Jian is the substantial
shareholder of the Company.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB2,240,000 and accrued
interest of RMB58,000 (2018: nil). The loan bore an
annual interest at 6% and is repayable on 30 June 2020.
The lending company is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter
Jian's spouse.

FEMBHRRME

28 BREAREMENRGE)

(a)

REERBIELATIAR

ke —BE=ZFRAAK
BEACSHEAARE
1,792,0007C 2 & & K& &
FHFB AR %62,000T
(ZE—N\F:T) - Z%E
REFEAB6% RERZ
ZTFET_AHEE-

BE-ME=ZFREKE
BASL2EAARE
181,134,000 ;0 2 B3 I fE
=S AR 6,297,000 T
(Z2—N\F: %) - ZE
REZANEETERE
F FREABTI% RAR
—E-TFEXA=1+HE
B-ZERRAMIBRL
ENEBEREE T8
TERARNENEERE ©

XE—ME=ZFRAR
2,240,000t 2 EF K& JE
it B A R #58,000T
(ZE-NF:T)- %
EFRFMNEARB6% RAR
ZTZTFAA=1+HE
B RERRAATIERE
HERBLBHREE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(@)  The balances include the following items: (continued)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB89,401,000 and accrued
interest of RMB2,966,000 (2018: nil). The loan, which
was mainly used for the repayment of convertible bonds,
bore an annual interest at 7% and is repayable on 30
June 2020. The lending company is ultimately held by Mr.
Wang Peter Jian.

The loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian with outstanding
principal amounting to RMB1,792,000, RMB1,792,000,
RMB1,792,000, RMB895,000 and accrued interest
of RMB88,000 (2018: nil). The loans bore an annual
interest at 6% and are repayable on 27 August 2020, 25
September 2020, 28 October 2020, and 4 December 2020
respectively.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

28 BREAREMENRGE)

(a)

HEHREREIATER : (B)

BE—MEZFRAAME
BAS2EBABARE
89,401,000 T 2 EH & &
A B AR #2,966,000
T ZE—NF:F)e %
EXFERARERTRR
BE FHNERT%RE
RZZE-_ZEFA=+H
BE - ZERLFHIR

FERKERER °

REIBEEREELS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 28 FRBARAEMEMNRGE)
The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are FERERKHEMEMNROBREEAIT
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE

As at 31 December

Wt=A=+-A
2019 2018

e A G
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

- RMB - AR 128,966 123,327
- Usb —%7% 1,653 1,310
— HKD —BTT 295,518 5,055
426,137 129,692
The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values. HinEN RO EEEREAABER
% o
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29 BANK BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 RITE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8”
2019 2018
“E-hE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Non-current FRE
Long-term borrowing from RERITER - BRERLRER ()
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (a) 140,000 240,000
Current TE
Current portion of long-term RESRITERORB D
borrowing from a bank - —BRBERER ()
Guaranteed and pledged (a) 100,000 50,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing RERITERORE D
from a bank - Guaranteed and secured (b) — B RFE XA (b) 90,000 —
Current portion of long-term borrowing RERITERORE D
from a bank — Guaranteed (c) —BRFE(0) 110,000 115,000
Short-term borrowing from REIRITIE R — B RE KR ()
a bank — Guaranteed and secured (d) 66,000 66,000
Short-term borrowing from RESRITIER - BRERER ()
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (e) 160,000 100,000
Short-term borrowings from RERITIER — BRE ()
banks — Guaranteed (f) 50,000 130,000
576,000 461,000
Total borrowings Rt 716,000 701,000

All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December

2019 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

(a)

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB290,000,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and was pledged by 35% of a
subsidiary’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of
China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which was 4.75% per annum
as at 31 December 2019 of which 2.00% interest is charged in
advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in
the Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances
to the lender. The tenure of the borrowing is from 8 November
2018 to 7 November 2021 and repayment terms are based
on the following schedule: repayments of RMB50,000,000,
RMB100,000,000 and RMB140,000,000 on 7 November 2019,
7 November 2020 and 29 October 2021 respectively. The first
payment has been made by the Group based on the contractual
terms. According to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of
RMB100,000,000 is required to be repaid on 7 November
2020. Accordingly, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000
was recorded as current liability as at 31 December 2019 and
amount of RMB140,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2019.

29

FEMBHRRME

RITH/R(E)
HEHRBIETHRITER

(a)

K& &% A AR 290,000,000
TTREFRBAR A RBRE
LABH B X R)35% AR REVEE A o
FIRERFBARRITHEF
LDETRHEHERME B
—E-hAhF+=-A=+—H

BB E475%  H P EE
B2.00%F B #ERAEEAFR

B EBEE N ERARER
BEBBRE BRHA—T
—NE+—ANBE=ZT=—
E+— AR LR

BE: SRR E-AEt—
AtE —F-FEt-At

Bk-—E-_—F+A=+N1H
{& & A R #50,000,0007C « A
E #100,000,0007T & A B #
140,000,000 7T °» NEEE R &
EREREEEENE - REE

HipeE - AR T _TF+—H
tHEENAXNAESEAR

AR #100,000,0007T © Bt
RZE-NF+=ZA=1+—H
E@%?MMMooooooooﬁll
ARBEE MRZT—NLEF
+tZA=+— EIE’H%?M\E’HZ
140,000,000 7T A5 A IE i B &

f& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

29 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB100,000,000 was
guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the
Group's factory plant with net book value of RMB65,897,000
(Note 8) and land use rights with net book value of
RMB27,482,000 (Note 7). The interest rate was based on the
directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China
Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which was 4.75% per annum as
at 31 December 2019 of which 2.00% interest is charged in
advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in
the Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances
to the lender. The tenure of the borrowing is from 18 March
2019 to 17 March 2021 and repayment terms are based
on the following schedule: repayments of RMB10,000,000,
RMB15,000,000, RMB30,000,000 and RMB45,000,000 on 18
September 2019, 18 March 2020, 18 September 2020 and 7
March 2021 respectively. The first payment has been made by
the Group based on the contractual terms. Due to certain terms
of the borrowing agreement, the bank has the potential right
to request for repayment of the loan before the contractual
maturity dates. Accordingly, the outstanding borrowing
amounting to RMB90,000,000 was recorded as current liability
as at 31 December 2019.
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THERBASENKBARR
HIRE  WAREEEEFES
A R # 65,897,000 7T H) I & &
F(MEs) REEFEAARKE
27,482,000 7T & + 4 {57 A 4 (B
R - MIRERTFEAR
RITHER O ZITAMHEIERF
R RZE-NF+ZA=F—
HASFELT5% HBEET
Br2.00% F 2 - BB AR
B BEAHFIRERARERNE
BERRE -BREAZZ—N
F=ZA+N\BE-ZT=-—F=H
++8 - WELTHEIEE: D
ARZT-NFALATNE =
E-TF=ZA+N\H 22T
FARB+NBR-ZE-—%=
A+t B{EZEAK10,000,000
Jt+ AR #15,000,0007C A
R #30,000,0007T & A B #
45,000,0007c ° AEEE R E
BRGFEEEENE - ARG
AIp@EM R LR - ZRITHER
ERIMB ZAERERERD
BERER - Al - RZT—NEF
+ZA=+—H8 ' WKREEERX
A KR 90,000,000 7T 5| A% &
BfE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(0)

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB120,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group. The interest
rate was based on the general interest rate in Tibet, which
was 2.75% per annum as at 31 December 2019. During the
period of the loan, the interest rate will be adjusted according
to the directive interest rate published by the People’'s Bank
of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch every twelve months.
The tenure of the borrowing is from 28 April 2018 to 28
April 2020 and repayment terms are based on the following
schedule: repayments of RMB5,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and
RMB110,000,000 on 18 October 2018, 18 October 2019
and 28 April 2020 respectively. The first two payments have
been made by the Group based on the contractual terms. The
outstanding borrowing amounting to RMB110,000,000 was
recorded as current liability as at 31 December 2019.

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB66,000,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and secured by the Group's factory
plant with net book value of RMB29,484,000 (Note 8) and land
use rights with net book value of RMB965,000 (Note 7). The
loan was repaid and reborrowed in 2019. The loan is at fixed
interest rate of 4.35% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing
is from 20 June 2019 to 19 June 2020.

FEMBHRRME

29 RITERE)

(©

A& EAARE 120,000,000
THERBASENKBARR
MR - FETDERARA—
BAE RZT—NF+=A
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RF12EAETHE - B
AZE-NFNAZ-t+N\BZE
—E-TFEMA-_t+NB I
BUTEEE: »R-Z
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EREBEERKBGHREEEMNER
EHeH RZTE-NF+H
=+—H - BREEBERAR®
110,000,000 703 BREN B & -

K& &5 A ARM66,000000
THERBARARMBRSE
VTAAEEE@FEAAR
29,484,000 7T # T 5 8 5 (BT 7
8) kERME ¥ E A A K% 965,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

29 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(e)

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

(i)

(ii)

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB100,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and was
pledged by 15% of an associate’'s equity interests. The
loan is at fixed interest rate of 2.25% per annum. The
tenure of the borrowing is from 20 September 2019 to 20
September 2020.

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB60,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and the
Company, and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s
equity interests. The loan is at fixed interest rate of
4.15% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing is from 6
December 2019 to 6 December 2020.

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB50,000,000 was

guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the Group. The

loan was repaid and reborrowed in 2019. The loan is at fixed

interest rate of 4.35% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing
is from 16 August 2019 to 13 March 2020.

Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from current and non-

current bank borrowings are set out in Note 3.1.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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29 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29 RITER(E)
As at 31 December 2019, the Group's bank borrowings were RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H K&
repayable as follows: ESRITERNERRET

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2019 2018

e = It
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within 1 year 1R 576,000 461,000
Between 1 and 2 years 122F 140,000 100,000
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F — 140,000
716,000 701,000

30 CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT 30 ERES-EEHS

As at 31 December

R+t=-A=+-H
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Current wE
Convertible bond - liability component ARkES -BEHS — 457,673
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30 CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED) 30 ARRESR-8ENS#E)
The movement of convertible bond-liability component is as follows: HRRES -BEDINESHOT
RMB’000
AR® TR
Liability component at 31 December 2018 R=B-NE+=A=+-H
ioh=R:ib) 457,673
Interest expense (Note 34) FEEA (P 34) 17,846
Cash settlement Re#E (486,363)
Currency translation differences INETEERR 10,844
Liability component at 31 December 2019 R=Z-NE+=HA=+—-8
HEERS =
The Group's convertible bonds with par value of HKD525,000,000 7N % B @ {8 4 525,000,000 78 7T & 7]
were matured on 24 June 2019. None of the bond holders exercised BREFR-_ZT-NAFAAZ+HH
the conversion option of the convertible bonds and thus the Group A BEESBAATEANRRE
was required to repay the bond holders in cash upon maturity. By FHEHRE - I NEBAREH
16 July 2019 (the contractual repayment deadline), the Group had HRUREEERESFHAA - RZT
repaid the bonds in full, amounting to RMB486,363,000 (equivalent —NFEtATAB(EHEFREILAR
to HKD545,599,000), representing principal of RMB468,517,000 H) FAEEERBEEEFARE
(equivalent to HKD525,000,000) and interest of RMB17,846,000 486,363,000 7(#8 % # 545,599,000
(equivalent to HKD20,599,000). BL) o BA £ AR %468,517,000

T(# % 7 525,000,000 7T ) &
B AR 17,846,000 (1 & B
20,599,000 1) °
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31 OTHER GAINS, NET 31 H#RE  FHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
g T \%F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Government grants BURE B
~ Tax refund (a) —RH(a) 24,320 37,800
- Amortisation of deferred income — IR A3 2,425 2,907
Gain on disposal of FVPL (b) BRENAABEFEAEZTHIA
BRENEREENNE b) 10,198 17,591
Fair value changes on FVPL (b) UARBEFEREET AER
NEMEENDITEEZS (D) 630 9,179
Loss on maturing FVPL (c) UARBEFEREET AER
e REEDHENEX () (4,319) —
Impairment loss of inventory (d) FEREEK () (17,885) -
Others HAh 1,442 1,532

16,811 69,009
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RamMERRIE
31  OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

(a)

According to “Zang Zheng Ban [1997] No.24", "Zang Cai Qi Zi [2010]
No.93", “La Kai Cai Zhu Zi [2010] No.29", “La Kai Cai Zhu Zi [2012]
No.101", “La Jing Kai Cai Qi Zhuan [2015] No.01", “La Kai Cai Qi Zhuan
[2016] N0.91", “Support to enterprises in Tibet Lhasa Economy and
Technology Development Zone (Temporary) No.8" and “Zang Zheng Fa
[2018] No.25 Notice for Several Regulations in relation to Attraction of
Investment in Tibet Autonomous Region (Trial Version)”, the Group is
eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government in relation
to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the local economic
development as a major tax payer and employer in Tibet. The Group
recognised such income of approximately RMB24,320,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB37,800,000).

The Group purchased financial products issued by a financial institution
in the PRC. These financial products will mature within one year with
variable return rates indexed to the performance of the underlying assets.
During the year, the Group disposed these investments amounting to
RMB510,000,000 (2018: RMB680,000,000), which resulted in a gain
amounting to RMB10,198,000 (2018: RMB17,591,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held structured financial products
amounting to RMB180,000,000, which was accounted as FVPL. The related
fair value gains of RMB630,000 were recognised for the year.

As at 31 December 2019, the derivative financial products related to share
option recorded as FVPL was matured and the Group has not exercised the
equity option, amounting to RMB4,319,000 which was recorded as loss on
FVPL.

This relates to inventory for a specific customer who is in financial
difficulties, thus the cost of the inventory is assessed to be impaired.
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution costs,

administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial assets

are analysed as follows:

32 BMEHINER

BREEEKRKN  HERDHER 17
BERLEMEERERRFENE

AT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLFE

2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Raw materials and consumables used BT AR R 1 R R 221,779 284,105
(Increase)/Decrease in the balances of ENRREERTEEH
inventories of finished goods and (gm),/m
work in progress (8,282) 2,083
Transportation costs BRI A 57,048 72,676
Depreciation of PP&E (Note 8) ME - BB RERETE(HE8) 58,359 56,470
Depreciation of investment properties REUFEHENE 175 —
Employee benefit expenses (Note 33) REBFER(HIE33) 83,059 82,587
Advertising and marketing expenditure EERMBHEER 36,017 17,409
City construction tax and WS ERHENMNE
education surcharge 11,758 16,566
Electricity and other utility expenses BAOREMERER 12,193 17,834
Rental expenses HEEHR 1,641 2,200
Legal and other consulting services fee ERMEMB AR E R 7,239 10,517
Repair and maintenance EERRE 2,597 2,750
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) T AR (P 5ET7) 724 724
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) B AEEHEMFTI) 22,118 22,118
Auditor’s remuneration ZERIB &
- Audit services — &R 7,136 6,586
- Non-audit services — B IR — —
Exploration rights expenses RiEEER 500 500
Office and consumption expenses RAREEER 3,089 3,988
Net impairment losses on financial FREEREBRLFHE
assets (Note 3.1 (b)(iii)) (BR&E 3.1(b)iii)) 83,164 1,795
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERE — 230
Others Hith 5,284 6,480
605,598 607,618
BARKEFRERART | £, 2019




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RamMERRIE
33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

33 EEGANEAR

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT
Wages and salaries TERF® 66,853 67,048
Provision for medical and BEIAMESRMNERE
other employee benefits 5,511 4,693
Contributions to defined contribution REHFBRAREEEIHK ()
pension scheme (a) 6,178 6,670
Contributions to the housing scheme (b) EREFEER (b 4,517 4,176
83,059 82,587
(@) Pension scheme (a) BHR&:E
The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension REFZRS] SHEERQE
insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The ERRKSRBETEIEL R -
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further HWZEeWEREHEESNAE
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay EERAHERBTHEEHE
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the Eﬁﬁi‘kﬁﬁ MM - REETE
current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised HEFEEIHETEERT -
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid T#?M’\ruﬁﬂﬂjﬁﬁwi%@ﬁ%mﬂﬁ
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a %o BRERETREFRERS
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. AR NFRDNER T ERR
BE -
(b) Housing scheme (b) fEE:TE

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the
Group is required to make contributions to the Chinese state-
sponsored housing fund at 10% of the salaries of the PRC
employees. At the same time, the employees are also required
to make a contribution at 10% of their salaries out of their
payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of
the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

R BER | ERE AR
ARBEVAZETEREHF SN
10% A F BEBFESOERSR
BeELEX - AE - BEN
AREZH T THIRINI0%EAH
R EETHERBET  EER
BERZENEEABEHEN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

()

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four (2018: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 43.
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2018:
one) individual during the year are as follows:

FEMBHRRME

33 EERMNERE)

(c)

LEREHFMAL
AEEAEELERBHFMAL
BRENE(ZE-N\F: mHR)E
2 RENHE S RME43M
ENNDTREK - REEEHR
BNTEH-R(ZT-/\F:
—R)ERALHMEWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLFE

2019 2018

“E-NE —T-N\%F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARBETT

Basic salaries and allowances ERE & JOEEL 1,219 1,166
Contribution to pension scheme RAREEEIHR 16 15
Bonuses 1E4L 97 93
1,332 1,274

BRHKERARAF | F& 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 34 BHWA(EBR) BHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-B=+—-HLEE
2019 2018
“E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net PE 5 e (BK) - 35 86 (556)
Interest costs on bank borrowings RITERFEER (30,540) (14,107)
Interest costs on convertible bond (Note 30)  AI¥AL(E AT 2 &/ (M5 30) (17,846) (30,895)

Interest costs on borrowings B=AEFHFEER (a)

from third parties (a) (9,647) -
Other finance costs Hin 8% & (381) (106)
(58,328) (45,664)
Amount capitalised (b) BN S% (b) 4,070 3,559
Finance costs BMkER (54,258) (42,105)
Finance income - interest income B A — FI B WA 63,819 31,855
Finance income/(costs), net BMBEWRA(BA) B8 9,561 (10,250)

(@  The interest costs were mainly due from borrowings from third parties.
Please refer to Note 28 for details.

(b)  Interest of RMB4,070,000 has been capitalised in assets under construction
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB3,559,000). Interest was
capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general bank borrowings of
4.19% per annum (2018: 3.40% per annum).

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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35 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

FrEHER
AT REGEBERIAANAERE
Be%

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-BHLFE

2019 2018
e = It
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Current income tax 40,748 37,962
Deferred income tax credit (Note 24) EEFTEHER (M 24) (12,233) (3,260)
Income tax expense 28,515 34,702

The taxation on the Group's (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax

rate as follows:

REBMBAEHA(EER)/MBa
BRRBEBRINERAEERRAFES
HEEREER - AW

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\E
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

(Loss)/Profit before income tax BrETIS R AT (E518),/FE (716,603) 352,234
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% AT E 15% :tEHFHE (107,490) 52,835
Preferential tax rates on income of AT Z X

certain group entities (a) FEERE (a) (13,709) (25,688)
Loss/(Income) not subject to tax BEZRHER/ (W) 130,017 (1,795)
Tax losses of certain group entities for which W EBERELHIBEEDN

no deferred tax assets were recognised ETEBERENHIEEE 1,283 1,498
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TEMHE A 9,335 5,352
Withholding tax from distribution of B B 2 ) B A

profits by a PRC subsidiary PITEE I FRISTR 9,079 2,500
Income tax expense 28,515 34,702
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RamMERRIE
35 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

(a)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws
of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2021. From 2022 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate
of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 25%) as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations. The
relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the expected
tax rates applicable in the future. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
for at the rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%).

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

35 FBBEAE)

(a)

ARBRFAEHBEMKL - RIEH
SHERTEE  AAFMETRE
WSk BEM ARK - BAE
ERHEMRIE REXBEZHS
MEREBAREKNINEEERE
BRBNRBRLEBHOMIGH

EREEMR IO EEEEEMMAT
BREMEH FAEENFELEER
BUAARIZZMERER/E
RIBRE AR R A HE B AR
Bl NENCEMEBBRHRERAZT
—HFEE-_T-—FA9% BT
TFR B AR SEELE
SN AEBEOCEMESHH
KRG IMEZ15% o E &7 P B
RIMEBEBREE-_ZT—AE+_A
“t—HEFERBBEENTERG
B B R IR 1R 25% M AT 5 B R (=
T—\F : 25%) 8% o HBRETE
EHRCBEERRNARERNBET
LAEHE - BEFIBHEEZ16.5% (=F
—)\F 1 16.5% ) KB FEHR ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBRERME
36 (LOSS)EARNINGS PER SHARE 36 BR(EE)EF
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share () EBREXR(ER) BF
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, basic (loss)/earnings per RZZE-NERZF-N\F+=
share is calculated by dividing: A=+—BmERERNER)/
BRI MEATRIEE -
o the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company o  AKAREIHEAEE(EE)
/IR - BRI
e by the weighted average number of ordinary shares s RUBRFEABZITLA
outstanding during the financial year, excluding the shares eV MEFHE - TEE
held for share award scheme (Note 22). Bz fn B2 B &t &+ B W R 10
(BizE22) -
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HLEE
2019 2018
“E-NE —F-N\%F
(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of AREHEB AEE(BE)
the Company (RMB'000) S HBARETT) (745,118) 317,532
Weighted average number of BEITERREOMETEH
ordinary shares in issue (thousands) (BATF&) 2,503,267 2,503,421
(Loss)/Earnings per share (basic and diluted) SRk (E1E), EH (EAR
(RMB cents per share) LEE) (BRARED) (29.77) 12.68
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) SREBHE(EE)BF
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the FREE(BER) BREAR
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to BEITERRMETISEARE
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. As at BMMERAESNENETL S
31 December 2019, the Group has no dilutive ordinary shares. BmaE R _E-NEF+=A
+—H AEBUEHEELR
H& o
37 DIVIDENDS 37 RE

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2019
(2018: nil). No dividend was paid during the year.

ARRTESERE _—T-NERS
(=F

S \F ) FAMEIRNE
AR

BEHKERARAF | FH 2019

237




R N g

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

38 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 RETHEENES

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETIS R AT (E518),/FE (716,603) 352,234
Adjustments for: HE
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) T b R S (PR 7) 724 724
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) BREE#HEME) 22,118 22,118
Depreciation of PP&E (Note 8) M - BEREETE(HES) 58,359 56,470
Depreciation of investment properties REUEMENE 175 —
Deferred income credited to statement of EiBaRrREERA (KE31)
profit or loss (Note 31) (2,425) (2,907)
Loss on maturing FVPL (Note 31) NAREBESEEEESH:TA
BRI E DK
HOIE K (B EE31) 4,319 —
Finance (income)/cost, net (Note 34) B RA) /B - BE(KE34) (9,561) 10,250
Share of net profit of investments accounted JE{L Az A AR
for using the equity method (Note 12) REFREFE (M 12) (14,319) (20,436)
Loss from acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—RMBRAIKEE — 282
Gain on disposal of FVPL (Note 18 & 31) BRENAAEBEFEBEEZE
FABRENERERE
(s (5T 18 & 31) (10,198) (17,591)
Fair value gains of FVPL (Note 18 & 31) NAREBESEEEZSH:TA
BalNemEEN
AREERE(HEE18 & 31) (630) (9,179)
Net impairment losses on financial CREEREBRIFEMES D)
assets (Note 3.1-b) 83,164 1,795
Impairment of inventories (Note 31) FEREE3D) 17,885 230
Impairment losses on investments accounted {# A A ARKEE
for using the equity method (Note 12) AL PEE12) 873,151 —
Operating profit before working EEESBH I NEE R
capital changes 306,159 393,990
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

38 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 38 RETHEENEL(E)

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERD/ () 28,559 (23,777)
Increase in trade receivables FEWTE 53 N (46,855) (56,541)
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, T IE R AR NG T 2 8
other financial assets at amortised cost HihemEERD /(Emn) 36,546 (35,365)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and ENESH N ENEE
notes payable #m,/ () 245,160 (5,519)
Decrease in accruals and other payables TETR & A N CH R 5 BKORL (775) (21,398)
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred revenue ETWARARABEM (Rd)
and contract liabilities 8,184 (4,025)
Cash generated from operations RETHEENRS 576,978 247,365
Significant non-cash transaction BEAERERS
(@) During the year, loans from a third party amounting to @ FAR E=ZFEFARE
RMB220,000,000 were offset against amounts due to a third 220,000,000 TEHERAEE
party for the same amount based on the settlement agreements BE=H LA RENER
among the Group and the third parties. FIRE R E = 5 RIEARE o
(b) During the year, amounts due to related parties of ) FA BENBEIFBEARE
RMB170,473,000 were reclassified to amounts due to a third 170,473,000 E St E R K &£
party for the same amount based on the settlement agreements CEZAREMANER R
among the Group, the third party and the related parties. MERRBEN T EERNE=
F K08 e
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38 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 38 RETHELENRE(E)
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in AEEHFNEBFENDITRE 25 H
net debt for each of the periods presented. BERFENES -
Net debt 2019 2018
B FE —E-NE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETR ARBETT

Cash and cash equivalents Be RS EEY 515,510 277,152
Borrowings - repayable within one year fER—ER—FREE(ME29)

(Note 29) (576,000) (461,000)
Borrowings - repayable after one year fER—ER—FREER(MF29)

(Note 29) (140,000) (240,000)
Borrowings from third parties (Note 28) E=HER(FIFE28) (290,309) —
Convertible bond - liability component Ak &R — B EHS (P 30)

(Note 30) — (457,673)
Net debt BRFE (490,799) (881,521)
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EEY 515,510 277,152
Gross debt - fixed interest rates B AR — B E %

(Note 3.1 (a)(ii)) (Bi=E 3.1(a)i) (566,309) (753,673)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BISREE — FEFR (440,000) (405,000)
Net debt BRFE (490,799) (881,521)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

38 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 38 RETHEENRS(E)
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
EfEE HEETBELNEE
Bank Bank

Cash  borrowings  borrowings
and cash  due within ~ due after  Borrowings
equivalents 1 year 1 year from  Convertible
ReRBE MERTE RIERYE third parties bond Total
Y BROER  BEOER  ESAER TERES h
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR AR®TR

Net debt as at 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+Zf=1-A

NEBRR 830,773 (431,000) - — (432340 (32,567)
Cash flows Rane (555,822) (15,892) (240,000) - 26,882 (784,832)
Foreign exchange adjustments ERER 2,201 - - - (21,320) (19,119)
Other non-cash movements HtFRERE - (14,108) - - (30895)  (45,003)
Net debt as at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZF=1-H

WERFE 277,152 (461,000)  (240,000) —  (457,673)  (881,521)
Net debt as at 31 December 2018 R=E-NE+=F=1-H

WEHHE 277,152 (461,000)  (240,000) —  (457,673)  (881,521)
Cash flows Bene 238,273 15,540 = (295,697) 282,789 240,905
Foreign exchange adjustments B A% 85 - - - (10,844) (10,759)
QOther non-cash movements EhiEReng = (130,540) 100,000 5,388 185,728 160,576
Net debt as at 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+-F=1-H

MEEFE 515,510 (576,000) (140,000) (290,309) = (490,799)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

39 AENHREE

(@) Capital commitments (a) BEARMEE
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, capital expenditures RZBE-NFRZZE-N\F+=
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows: A=+—H EEQENKEE
ZERRIMAT :
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2019 2018
—EB-hE —E-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREF T
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RE& 37,359 73,109
Equity investment EmiE 197,400 197,600
234,759 270,709
(b) Contingent liabilities (b) HAREE

The Group provided financial guarantee amounting to
RMB200,000,000 to an associate as at 31 December 2019
(2018: nil) (Note 3.1). The guarantee is provided for bank
borrowings obtained by the associate with remaining amounts
of RMB200,000,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil), the
period of guarantee amounting to RMB100,000,000 is from 5
July 2019 to 4 July 2023, the period of remaining guarantee
amounting to RMB100,000,000 is from 29 November 2019 to
25 November 2023.
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RZZE-NF+=ZA=+—8"
REE R — KBS A RRENHT
BER B AR 200,000,000 7T
(ZZ—NF: 8&)(zE3.1) -
ZERABERAR TN
F+ZA=+—BHBEAAR
# 200,000,000 7T A SR 175 7K 17
HERCZCZZE-NF: &) A
E % 100,000,000 7T &) R HA IR
BZE-NEFtARHEZ-ZE
“ZFELAMA EHARE
100,000,000 7T K (R HAMR & B
—E-NWEF+—AZthBEZ=
E-_=F+—HA=+AHB-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40 BBAIRS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the BRI AL SIE S S — A
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and BRISERRENERTZENAL -
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they HEEHIEEIMEE R@ET -

are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EERAEEFMRS

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLHFE

2019 2018
“E-NE —F-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Revenue from KB TIIFENHBA
— Rental income from associates —REE2ARIMNASKA 6,220 2,063
- Sales of raw materials and — B E AR EKE®

consumables used of water PR R AR R M

products to associates 49,245 102,453
— Sales of water products to —HEKERT—HBE AT

an associate 3,659 —
Purchase of goods from associates M EEEmm 101,319 —
Amounts paid to associates BB N BIFIE 55,623 170,000
Loans granted to associates ER AWNDE ] 288,200 22,000
Repayments received from loans to B —FEE A RER

an associate 14,363 —

Financial guarantee for an associate —FH & N RIS HER 200,000 —
Above were the transactions between the Group and associates NERAREEREEENR(BE
including Highland Natural Water, Fudi Packaging and Great BRARK BBERERHK
Wall 5100. The transactions were based on agreed terms among I—ZT)2HANRS - ZER
the parties involved. STERB@E N7 TR ER

17 -
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 40 BAMAEXRZ (&)
(b) Balances with related parties: (b) EHEAEER MYAERR
The balances with related parties are as follows: ERAME T RS ERIO T ¢

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2019 2018

e = It
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Prepayment HERIE

— Fudi Packaging — BB 52,582 —

Trade payable FERTE S

— Fudi Packaging —fEek 2,251 —

Contract liabilities aRAE

- Highland Natural Water —ERRARK 7,657 63

— Great Wall 5100 -REHE—TF 1,002 —

8,659 63

Other financial assets at amortised cost AEHBRAENEMBERMEE

— Highland Natural Water (Note 16) —mRAAK(HFE16) 189,800 —

- Fudi Packaging (Note 16) —RiEE (M 16) — 22,877
189,800 22,877
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

41

() Key management compensation
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown

FEMBHRRME

40 BEBAERS(#E)

(0 EREBARHM
BER/ENEEEE A B SR

below: 25T :
Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=+—HLEE
2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
Salaries and other short-term HehHEMRHESRA
employee benefits 11,616 11,949
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 41 EESBEXRABEEE

Late in 2019, news first emerged from China about the COVID-19
(Coronavirus). The situation at year end was that a limited number
of cases of an unknown virus had been reported to the World Health
Organisation. In the first few months of 2020, the virus spread
globally. The Group considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting
post balance sheet date event. The Group is currently unable to
assess the full impact of COVID-19 virus on its future financial
position and the results of operations, however, depending on future
developments, it may have a negative impact on the Group.

ZE-NFER - FEEAEBREH
COVID-19 (RAABZ)HEE - EFIE
MIERE  MERGEAGEREER
NRERINBETEERN - ZRS
EZT-_TFNELERTREIRE
B-ASERANNBRREERE
FOHBENERESE - AEEFA
EATECOVID-19 RS U E R K%
HKRMEERRO2ERE BR
BERARNEREBER  ZRSUEE
HASEELAAYE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

42 FLAREBEESERKREEED

As at 31 December

Rt+t=-A=+-H
2019 2018
“E-hE —ZE-N\F
Balance sheet of the Company Note RMB’000 RMB'000
AAREEERER BT ARETR AREFIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Loans to subsidiaries ERTHEBARF 1,256,334 1,503,478
1,256,334 1,503,478
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEM 289 1,310
Prepayment FEFIA 496 444
785 1,754
Total assets HMEE 1,257,119 1,505,232
Equity and liabilities EzRaE
Equity attributable to owners of EREEEARGES
the Company
Share capital [N 21,363 21,363
Share premium BinR1E 1,225,214 1,206,829
Shares held for share award scheme B REE BB M RG (173,037) (173,037)
Other reserves HipfEE (a) 72,733 72,244
Accumulated deficits ZETE A (a) (122,539) (85,489)
Total equity EHEE 1,023,734 1,041,910
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42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

42 FLAREESERNREEEH(E)

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—-H
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Balance sheet of the Company Note RMB'000 RMB'000
ERAREEREBR B AR®T R ARETT
Liabilities =N
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H e 191,952 5,649
Loans from subsidiaries REWBRAER 41,433 —
Convertible bond-liability component Ak EH - BEHD — 457,673
233,385 463,322
Total liabilities BEHE 233,385 463,322
Total equity and liabilities EnREEes 1,257,119 1,505,232

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 31 March 2020 and was signed on its behalf.

EXecN_FT-_FFX=-A=1+—-H
WEARBEEABRRIAART -

Wang Dong £%
Director %

LIU Chen 8|2
Director %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

(a)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Reserve movement of the Company

42 FLAREESERNREEEH(E)

() FRARELE

Accumulated

deficits Other reserves

Rt B4t Hitik %

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R AR®T R

At 1 January 2018 nZZ—-N&E—H—H (42,690) 31,948
Loss for the year FEEE (42,799) —
Currency translation differences GNETE — 40,296
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2EER) Waes (85,489) 72,244
At 31 December 2018 R-EB-NF+=ZA=1+—H (85,489) 72,244
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—A—H (85,489) 72,244
Loss for the year FEEE (37,050) —
Currency translation differences INEFTEZRE — 18,874
Reclassification to share premium BN EERNRE — (18,385)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 () WEBHE (122,539) 72,733
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+=-A=+—H (122,539) 72,733




43 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(A)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

43 ESEEIRER
(A) EERIETBAEME

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for

the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

REFNTEBTRAEBEBE_T
—NET A=+ —RLEFEN

RS T

Employer's

contribution

to benefit

Discretionary scheme  Allowance

Salary bonuses EEX@EF and benefits Total
Name i3] e MR AR RBREN 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TR ARETR AR¥Tn ARET:R
Mr. Wang Dong THELE 1,324 — 37 148 1,509
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen REREGE 1,642 — — 241 1,883
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EERLL 1,323 — — — 1,323
Mr. Liu Chen AR%EE 1,111 89 16 — 1,216
Mr. Wong Hak Kun (i) ERERAE() 551 — 7 — 558
Ms. Han Linyou (i) B L (i) 821 — 12 — 833
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBITL 878 — — — 878
Mr. Wei Cheng, Kevin B LE 527 — — — 527
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FRELLE 492 — — — 492
Mr. Wei Zheming (iii) WAL (i) — — — — —
Mr. Xu Liang (iii) R 558 A (ii) — — — — —
Ms. Guo Kunkun (iii) BEBELZL (i) — — — — —
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (iii) HEEEA (i) — — — — —
8,669 89 72 389 9,219

Resigned on 24 May 2019.

Resigned on 11 November 2019.

Appointed on 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

43

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for

the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

EEENRERE)

(A)

RESREIE

EERIETRABME(E)
THAEBBE-Z—N\

FT-A=T—BLEFENHFHE

(I

Employer's

contribution

to benefit

Discretionary scheme  Allowance
Salary bonuses  EEMEF and benefits Total
Name #4 e MIETEA AR RBRAER @it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARET:
Mr. Wang Dong TREE 1,265 — — 6 1,271
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen BEWE R E 1,570 — — 219 1,789
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EEomisE 1,265 — — — 1,265
Mr. Liu Chen st 1,063 85 15 — 1,163
Mr. Wong Hak Kun Tr#EE 1,265 — 15 — 1,280
Ms. Han Linyou Ey NG 1,063 85 15 — 1,163
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZET L+ 840 — — — 840
Mr. Wei Cheng, Kevin B E & 470 — — — 470
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway THEEEE 470 — — — 470
9,271 170 45 225 9,711
There was no remuneration, inducement fee, or compensation BE_ZT-NFRZZ-N\F
for loss of office to Directors during the year ended 31 ‘l’_ﬂ:‘l’*Elﬂ:ﬁth * LA

December 2019 and 2018.

(B) Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no retirement

benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly

or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his

services as a director or other services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries

(2018: nil).

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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EEXMEAEE  REERH

EZRNKER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(@

(D)

(E)

(F)

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2018: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2018: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2018: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2018: nil).

FEMBHRRME

43 EEENREZE)

(@)

(D)

(E)

(F)

BEERLEER
BE_Z-NF+ZA=+—H
HEE  SBERESRBRLE
B R E SRR S AEL E A
FIBSLEN - EFMEENFR
KEMRERERF(ZZE—N
FoE)e

RESBREOF=SRENKE

BE_T-NF+-A=1t—H
LFE - YEREERBAFE=
HRERE  F=AERKAK
B(ZF-N\F: &)

ARNES ESXEHEE
FLREERRRBANER - £
ERREMRZHER
MENES  EEXZH)EE
FEEERARBANER %
ERFEMRF(ZFT—\F:
&) -

EERRE  ZYHEHNEKX
B
RERKNFERNEAER - B8
FEARRAMERTAT AARE
EERNETHEAEARZ (TR
BERSEE)NBEEXBER
MEARS  ZHRAH(ZE
—N\FE) -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
L EHBEHME

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-BHL#FE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—B-0F —F-0\F ZFtF ZF-RF —FT-0%
Profitability data BRBE
(RMB million) (ARBEET)
Revenue WA 721 881 932 868 832
Gross profit EF 404 480 551 520 502
Operating profit REME 133 342 393 393 363
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(BR)/FH (745) 318 368 359 323
Profitability data (%) BHBE (%)
Gross profit margin EM = 56% 55% 59% 60% 60%
Operating profit margin RENBE 18% 39% 42% 45% 44%
Net profit margin N R N/ATiE A 36% 39% 41% 39%
Return on total shareholders’ equity fi% 5 & 48 %8 [0 5 X N/ATiE A 9% 12% 10% 10%
Assets and liabilities data EEHABERE
(RMB million) (AREEHET)
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,305 3,278 2,907 2,880 2,635
Current assets mEEE 1,958 1,635 1,642 1,938 1,025
Current liabilities mEEE 1,376 1,177 901 631 403
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 184 276 473 693 60
Equity attributable to owners AN/NGIE DN
of the Company iy 2,702 3,459 3,174 3,123 2,878
Assets and Working Capital data EEMABHESEE
Current assets ratios MEEEL X 46% 33% 36% 40% 28%
Gearing ratios BEXRBELX 27% 25% 21% 24% 6%
Note: P et

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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